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4 Victorian Electoral Commission

Fast facts 2008–09 2009–10 Change
Enrolled electors at 30 June 3,488,434 3,504,969 0.47%

Eligible electors enrolled 92.67% 90.85% 1.96%

Staff (FTE) at 30 June 72.1 76.5 6.10%

Training hours per FTE 5.21 6.98 33.97%

Lost time days 0 27

State elections 0 0 –
State by-elections 0 1

Council elections 79 0

Council by-elections and countbacks 2 12

Statutory and fee-for-service elections 16 10

Total expenditure $31.31m $19.25m 38.52%

Revenue paid to Consolidated Fund $15.4m $2.8m 81.81%

Financial summary 2008–09  
($’000)

2009–10 
($’000)

Change 

Operating revenue (appropriation) 29,984 19,250 35.80%

Operating expenses 31,310 19,897 36.45%

Total assets 8,293 7,752 6.52%

Total liabilities 2,062 1,842 10.67%

Surplus (1,326) (647) 51.21%

Net equity 6,231 5,912 5.12%

Letter of transmittal 
The Hon. Rob Hulls, MP 
Attorney-General 
Level 3, 1 Treasury Place 
East Melbourne Vic 3002

September 2010

Dear Attorney

I am pleased to submit the annual report of the Victorian Electoral Commission for 2009–10 for presentation to Parliament. 
The report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Financial Management Act 1994. 

Also included is the annual report of the Electoral Boundaries Commission for 2009–10. 

Yours sincerely

Steve Tully  
Electoral Commissioner
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Snapshot of the VEC

Our history and functions
Elections for the Victorian Parliament began when Victoria 
achieved independence from New South Wales in 1851. 
In 1910, Victoria’s first Chief Electoral Inspector was appointed 
to head the new State Electoral Office.

For 70 years the State Electoral Office existed as part of a 
public service department. In the late 1980s, however, it 
became increasingly clear that it was inappropriate for the 
conduct of elections to be subject to ministerial direction.

On 1 January 1989, legislation established the independent 
statutory office of Electoral Commissioner who was to report 
to Parliament instead of to a Minister.

In 1995 the State Electoral Office was renamed the Victorian 
Electoral Commission (VEC).

The VEC’s operations are governed by five main pieces 
of legislation:

Electoral Act 2002: establishes the VEC as an independent 
statutory authority, and sets out the processes for 
State elections. 

Constitution Act 1975: sets out who is entitled to enrol as an 
elector, who is entitled to be elected to Parliament, and the 
size and term of Parliament. 

Electoral Boundaries Commission Act 1982: governs the 
determination of State electoral boundaries. Under 
this legislation, the Victorian Electoral Commissioner 
is nominated as a member of the Electoral Boundaries 
Commission. 

Local Government Act 1989: provides for local government 
elections and electoral representation reviews. 

Infringements Act 2006: provides for stages 2 and 3 
of compulsory voting enforcement. 

Subject to these acts, the VEC maintains the electoral 
enrolment register, conducts State elections, local government 
elections, statutory elections, commercial and community 
elections, and boundary reviews. Electoral research and the 
provision of communication and education services that 
inform Victorians and engage them in the democratic process 
also form part of the VEC’s operations. A full list of legislation 
and regulations governing the VEC is on page 41 of this 
annual report.

As part of its activities to increase participation rates in groups identified as at risk of low participation, the VEC appointed an 
Aboriginal Engagement Officer. Under the slogan Yarn Up – Be Solid – Vote, the VEC is implementing an electoral engagement 
program for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people living in Victoria, and working with staff to ensure that organisational 
practices are carried out with respect for the traditional custodians of the land. The VEC acknowledges the members and elders 
of the Aboriginal communities and their forebears, who have been custodians of this country for many thousands of years. 
We acknowledge their living culture and their role in the life of Victoria.

Our challenge

To stimulate leading thinking and 
deliver excellence in all electoral 
endeavours. 

Our vision 

All Victorians actively participating 
in our democracy.

Our values

impartiality and integrity.

and effective stewardship of 
resources.

through creativity and leadership.

others and the environment.

with partners and communities.
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About this report

This report provides a summary of programs and initiatives implemented to meet 
the key objectives set out in the VEC’s Corporate Plan 2007–12 (revised 2009). 
As part of our environmental sustainability activity, we reduced the number of 
copies and again used an Australian, environmentally friendly paper. The report 
can be read and downloaded at vec.vic.gov.au. 

Look for this icon for other VEC activities that contribute to sustainability.

© Copyright State of Victoria 2010
This publication is copyright. No part may be 
reproduced by any process except in accordance 
with the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968.

Our year
The Electoral Commissioner, Steve Tully, 
provides a summary of key activities 
and achievements for 2009–10, and the 
outlook for 2010–11.

Contents

Our core business
The core business for which the 
VEC is funded includes the conduct 
of elections, maintenance of the 
electoral roll and ensuring fair and 
equitable representation. With all 
elections conducted in accordance with 
legislation, we maintained our record of 
no elections being overturned as result 
of VEC error. 

Aimed at increasing and maintaining 
enrolments and encouraging 
participation in the democratic process, 
our successful community engagement 
and education programs are a highlight 
of our year.

Our voters
The VEC has a primary responsibility 
of informing and engaging the 
community with regard to electoral 
matters. In addition, it aims to increase 
access to and participation in the 
electoral system. The VEC efforts to 
engage Victorians in the democratic 
process have contributed to an increase 
in enrolments, turnout and formality. 

This year, highly skilled data 
handling, mapping technology and 
comprehensive information privacy 
processes helped ensure the continued 
accuracy, integrity and security of the 
enrolment register, and the provision 
of excellent roll products and mapping 
services to stakeholders.

Our theme Every vote will shape Victoria
highlights the planning and preparation 
for the State election in November 
2010, to make sure every elector is able 
to vote, and that every vote counts. 

4 8
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Our people 
We aim to provide staff with the 
environment and opportunity to enable 
them to learn/thrive on a personal 
and professional level. To equip staff 
to respond to challenges, and adapt 
to changes both in their operating 
environment and outside of work, 
human resource management included 
a focus on recruitment, training and 
preparation of staff for the forthcoming 
election year. Privacy training and an 
occupational health and safety audit 
were also part of the year’s activity. 
Staffing figures are also included in 
this section. 

Our Commission
Good corporate governance and 
transparent reporting help ensure public 
confidence in the VEC and its processes. 
Effective corporate systems enabled 
the VEC to deliver its core business and 
operate on a day-to-day basis. The VEC 
prides itself on its accountability to the 
Victorian public. Our good corporate 
citizenship is evidenced by our 
performance in areas such as diversity, 
sustainability, information management 
and reporting. 

Audited financial 
statements 
Our sound financial management 
resulted in value for money election 
services for Victorian electors, as 
described in the report of operations 
and evidenced in the audited financial 
statements for 2009–10.

Appendices

34 42 55

98
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Our year

Our core business — supporting our democracy

Our strong ongoing election commitments, which 
complement a major electoral event every two years, mean 
the VEC has been preparing for the 2010 State election since 
the successful conduct of the local government elections 
two years ago. With the State election now imminent, our 
focus is firmly on the effective implementation of our plans, 
culminating in a successful election in November 2010. 
Innovations being introduced at the election are aimed 
at increasing ease of participation and increased use of 
technology, and are highlighted throughout this report.

The conduct of a State by-election for Altona District, 
early in 2010, acted as a timely warm-up event, providing 
opportunities to evaluate and fine tune aspects of our 
broader State election plan. Increases on State by-election 
figures relating to enrolment, turnout and formality of voting, 
indicate that our advertising and communication campaigns 
are on target. 

Our continued focus on accessibility to democracy is 
evidenced by our research program, which has continued 
in areas such as prisoner voting. Our Community Education 
team, in collaboration with Australian Multicultural Education 
Services, has produced an exceptional teaching resource for 
adult learners of English as a second language — All About 
Voting. An electoral information DVD made for, and with, 
adults with physical and multiple impairments will also be 
launched prior to the State election, adding to our growing 
range of accessible information materials. 

We enjoy fruitful relationships with Electoral Commissions 
around Australia with the rich sharing of ideas and innovations 
that will benefit the electoral industry as a whole. We have 
also contributed our knowledge and experience to the 
consideration of electoral administration in Electoral Matters 
Committee inquiries.

Our voters — a focus on participation

With over 3.5 million electors on the roll at 30 June 2010, 
the VEC is achieving its target in relation to the enrolment of 
eligible electors. However, we will always be working to engage 
groups that are identified as experiencing low participation. 
Our Community Education team works hard with the CALD 
communities, homeless networks and disability groups. The 
team now includes an Aboriginal engagement officer to further 
develop the VEC’s Aboriginal Engagement Program and to help 
develop cultural awareness and capability across the 
organisation. The establishment of an Aboriginal Advisory 
Group will assist us with this vital work.

An exciting feature of our “Every vote will help shape Victoria” 
communication campaign will be an Election Roadshow. This 
is an electoral information and engagement facility providing 
in-language election information, enrolment look up facilities 
and awareness-raising products. The Election Roadshow will 
travel to the Royal Melbourne Show, Federation Square, and 
to key locations in areas identified as containing large groups 
of electors at risk of low participation. 

During June 2010, the Government introduced a bill aimed 
at increasing participation in Victoria’s elections through 
streamlined enrolment procedures and expanded facilities 
for electronically assisted voting. Other areas covered in the 
bill include procedures relating to group voting tickets and 
how-to-vote cards and authorisation requirements for letters 
and business cards. We will be closely watching the outcome 
of this bill.
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Our people — committed, professional, impartial

Impartiality, integrity, transparency, accessibility and 
innovation are hallmarks of good electoral administration, 
and support our strong democracy. In 2009–10, as we 
prepare for the 2010 State election in November, we have 
embedded practices across the organisation to ensure that 
these characteristics continue to be identifiable features 
of VEC operations. 

An equal opportunity exemption allows us to ask all 
prospective employees for disclosure of specific political 
activities that could compromise our independence. 
These disclosures enable us to allocate people to projects 
in a way that minimises any opportunity for bias, either 
real or perceived. 

I wish to acknowledge the contribution and commitment 
of all staff and associated personnel, who have continued 
to meet the challenges of the electoral environment, and to 
build their skills and knowledge through regular training and 
development. I am confident they have gained professional 
satisfaction from the variety and scope of projects at the VEC. 
I congratulate my staff on their readiness to conduct a State 
by-election at very short notice, their ability to concurrently 
progress existing large and small-scale projects, and their 
enthusiasm for work in support of democracy for 
all Victorians. 

I would also like to acknowledge the contribution made by the 
late Mrs Monica Walsh to the conduct of elections in Victoria. 
Most significantly, in 1979 Mrs Walsh was the first female 
Returning Officer appointed to conduct elections for the 
Victorian State Parliament. 

As we move into the final stages of preparations for the 
conduct of the 2010 State election, my appreciation also goes 
to our partner organisations, service providers and clients for 
their valued contribution to the success of our operations. 
I thank them and all my staff for their work this year, and in 
advance for the enormous amount of hard work ahead. 

“Impartiality, integrity, transparency, 
accessibility and innovation 
are hallmarks of good electoral 
administration, and support our 
strong democracy.” 

Our Commission — sound financial management 
and good corporate citizenship

Pleasingly, our financial management processes have again 
resulted in a satisfactory report from the Auditor-General, 
and we enter 2010–11 confident that we provide Victorians 
with excellent value-for-money electoral services, with 
transparency and full accountability. 

Six major reports were published during 2009–10, providing 
details and analysis of all VEC activity including local 
government elections, representation and subdivision reviews 
and the Altona District by-election. Evidencing good corporate 
citizenship, we are pleased to have achieved a silver award in 
the Australasian Reporting Awards for the third year running.  

The internal audit schedule has continued with an 
examination of occupational health and safety processes 
across the VEC. The findings of this audit have been 
examined and a responsive action plan will be implemented 
during 2010–11. 

We are pleased with our progress towards a more sustainable 
office. A number of the key election initiatives highlighted in 
this report have excellent credentials as sustainability actions 
and contribute to the achievement of the VEC’s sustainability 
objective. Look out for our sustainability logo.

Our future — opportunities and challenges ahead

The forthcoming State election will present challenges and 
opportunities for innovation. The expansion of electronic 
voting services for eligible voters at this election is well 
underway. Avenues for incorporating other electronic 
technologies (which do not require legislative change) into the 
election process have been explored and a number of these 
will be implemented. Along with the State election there will 
be other elections, by-elections and polls to conduct. We are 
also preparing for the next round of electoral representation 
reviews for local councils, which will commence in 2011. 

I am confident that the achievements of 2009–10, outlined in 
this report, demonstrate the VEC’s commitment to supporting 
Victoria’s strong democracy and making every vote count.

Steve Tully
Electoral Commissioner
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Highlights, 2009–10

8 22
Page Page

Our core business 
Key objectives: Deliver high quality election 
services; fair and equitable representation; 
and an informed and engaged community.

19 working days

within timeframes and budgets

enrolment and voting faced by prisoners who 
are eligible to vote

All About 
Voting resource kit, promoting democratic 
participation among citizens from culturally 
and linguistically diverse backgrounds

2010 State election, incorporating enrolment 
helper and employment registration

Major challenges ahead

successful implementation of new initiatives 
and legislation 

communication and community education 
programs resulting in increased participation

Our voters
Key objectives: Maintain a complete and 
accurate enrolment register; increased 
ease of access to, and participation in, 
the electoral system.

electors enrolled

of enrolment updates

formality at State and council 
by-elections

Major challenges ahead

and formal voting targets

to enrolment



7Annual Report 2009–10

o
ur co

re business
o

ur year
o

ur voters
o

ur peo
ple

financial statem
ents

o
ur co

m
m

issio
n

appendices32 40
Page Page

Our people
Key objectives: Be a highly preferred employer, 
providing valued learning, development and 
career opportunities.

provision in areas including privacy awareness, 
cultural awareness, health and stress 
management, and effective communication 

officials for 2010 State election

Major challenges ahead

election officials for 2010 State election

for core and casual staff during periods 
of intense activity

Our Commission
Key objectives: Ensure the VEC’s performance 
as a responsible and accountable corporate 
citizen

report tabled within legislated timeframes

Reporting Award; Silver

financial statements from Auditor-General 

transparency and corporate citizenship

Major challenges ahead

State Services Authority Survey

including introduction of sustainability 
measures at election offices and voting centres 
for State election, and obtaining WasteWise 
accreditation
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How we do it

Inside this section

9

12

13

electoral agencies

15

16

18

21

What we aim to do

to electoral matters 
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State elections

Elections

State election initiative

Verification of data entry 
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Figure 1: Participation at Altona District by-election

Figure 2: Voter turnout at State by-elections 2000–10

86.02% of 
total enrolment

26.87% of 
total votes

95.04% of 
total votes

4.96% of
total votes

41,012

10,993

38,978

2,034

Total Enrolment Total Votes Votes before
election day

Informal Votes

47,680

Formal Votes

89.60%

70.67%

84.93% 83.20% 86.02%

Benalla District
13 May 2000

Albert Park 
District

15 Sept 2007

Williamstown 
District

15 Sept 2007

Kororoit District
28 Jun 2008

Altona District
13 Feb 2010

State by-elections
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Local government activity

Local government by-elections and countbacks

Local Government 
Amendment (Conflicting Duties) Act 2009

Community elections 
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Electoral divisions, State Government

Report of the Electoral Boundaries Commission 2009–10 can 

Representation reviews, local government
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Electoral Council of Australia Interstate electoral agencies

Figure 3: Election services provided by the VEC to other electoral agencies, 2009–10

Election date State/Territory Election Total votes 

Tasmania

442

Tasmania 18

Tasmania 1

Figure 4: Secondment of VEC staff to other Australian electoral agencies, 2009–10

Election day or close of poll Agency Election Total staff Total days

Tasmanian Electoral Commission 5

5 36
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Electoral Matters Committee

Parliamentary 
Committees Act 2003.

Electoral Act 2002

“...the current inquiry into 
the Functions and Administration of Voting Centres is not the 
appropriate vehicle to examine such matters raised by the VEC 
and the Committee does not presently have the significant 
resources or time to adequately consider the issues.”

State and Territory Electoral Commissions
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Register of political parties

Electoral Act 2002

Ombudsman’s report 

Electoral Act 2002.



16 Victorian Electoral Commission

Research New and proposed legislation
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State election initiative 

Redesigned EasyVote Guide 
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Community education and communication

The VEC believes that wide community engagement in the democratic process is crucial for a healthy 
democracy. Low participation by specific groups in the community can leave them under represented 
and feeling disengaged with politics and the democratic process. 

During 2009–10 the VEC’s Communication, Education and Research Branch continued to identify 
these groups and to present electoral education, activities, programs and support that engages people 
with democracy. 

The establishment of an Aboriginal Engagement Program, launch of the Passport to Democracy
schools kit and development of the All About Voting civics resource for learners of English as a second 
language were highlights of our electoral engagement activities during 2009–10.

Electoral engagement 

By participating in events such as the Chinese Lantern 
Festival, Home is Where the Heart Is and Parliament Open 
Day, the VEC actively engaged with the community during 
2009–10, providing marketing devices, in-language electoral 
information, education programs and assistance with 
enrolment. The Communication, Education and Research 
Branch works with schools, culturally and linguistically diverse 
groups, Aboriginal communities, people with disabilities, 
people experiencing homelessness and people in key age 
groups across the community to engage them in the electoral 
process. 

Aboriginal engagement

During 2009–10, the delivery of the VEC’s community-
based outreach and education program was enriched by the 
appointment of an Aboriginal Engagement Officer to work 
specifically with Aboriginal groups across Victoria. Under 
the banner of ‘Yarn up – Be Solid – Vote’, a range of exciting 
activities have been initiated including the establishment of an 
Aboriginal Advisory Group, initiation of a partnership with the 
newly established Korin Gamadji Indigenous Institute, cultural 
awareness sessions for VEC staff and a keynote presentation 
at the 2010 Wannik Student Leadership conference. 

Young people

The 18–25 year old age group has lower enrolment and 
turnout rates than other age groups in Victoria. In response 
to this, the VEC works with schools, universities and youth 
organisations providing information, education programs and 
engagement activities to encourage young people to enrol  
and to vote. 

Passport to Democracy 

The network of schools offering Passport to Democracy is 
expanding across the State with the program being delivered 
in 29 schools, TAFEs and other educational settings across 
a total of 82 separate classes, reaching around 2,200 
students. The appointment of a part-time officer specifically 
to coordinate the program has enabled the VEC to apply a 
strategic approach to marketing the program and coordinating 
VEC support officers to assist with implementing the program 
in schools. 

Feedback indicates that student attitudes to participating 
democratic activities improve as a result of completing 
the course. The VEC will continue to support this valuable 
initiative with further training and support for outreach officers 
to assist teachers with delivery of the program. 

Who Decides?

An interactive flash animation, Who Decides? was launched in 
March 2010. Bringing a local community setting to life, Who
Decides? challenges participants to find out more about the 
different services they use, the connections to the three levels 
of government, and how people can have their say on the 
issues that affect them. Who Decides? was a popular feature  
at Parliament Open Day, and is available at vec.vic.gov.au.
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CALD communities

All About Voting,

People experiencing homelessness 

Homeless not 
Voteless

People with disabilities

Voting is for Everyone

Parliament Open Day

State election initiative 

Outreach, enrolment and voting sessions for 
Aboriginal, homeless, CALD and prisoner groups 
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State election initiative 

Website redesign 

electoral look up

enrolment helper

enrolment helper

State election initiative 

Online voting centre lookup
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Enrolment

The VEC considers it very important to facilitate participation in the democratic process by all 
Victorians, and activities were undertaken throughout 2009–10 to support the objective of having  
all eligible Victorians enrolled. Key objectives for the VEC are to maintain the accuracy and security 
of the register of electors, and for the proportion of eligible electors enrolled to increase annually and 
to be higher than the national average. The VEC undertakes a range activities to keep the enrolment 
register current, and to ensure electors vote and vote correctly. At elections conducted during  
2009–10, enrolment and turnout increased, while informality of voting decreased.

Register of electors

The VEC achieved its target of processing 100% of elector 
enrolment changes and new enrolments within set 
timeframes, ensuring that the register of electors is as  
up to date as possible. 

The number of Victorians enrolled to vote increased by 16,535 
to 3,504,969 in 2009–10. Using available data, it is estimated 
that 90.95% of eligible electors are enrolled; slightly more 
than the national figure of 89.69% and just over the VEC’s 
target of at least 1% higher than the national average (see 
Figure 5). However, declining enrolments are of great concern 
to the VEC. It is little comfort that the VEC enrolment rate 
decreased by 1.72 percentage points, while the national 
decline was slightly larger, at 2.21 percentage points. 

Youth enrolment

Victoria continues to have one of the highest youth enrolment 
rates in Australia. However, the number of young Victorians 
enrolled is, on average, 10% below that of the general 
eligible population. Figure 6 shows the extent to which 
Victorian young people aged 17 years and 18 to 25 years are 
represented on the electoral roll. This shows that since  
2006–07, although Victorian figures are consistently higher 
than the national average, youth enrolment has fallen just 
below the VEC’s target of at least two percentage points 
above the national average. 

Electoral education focusing on youth participation is a key 
element of the VEC’s Community Education Strategy 2007–12. 
At 30 June 2010, the estimated percentage of eligible  
17-year–olds provisionally enrolled on the electoral register 
was 28.19%. Passport to Democracy, a school education 
program, is an effective way of encouraging interest in and 
knowledge about the democratic process in upper secondary 
students. A VEC presence at events involving young people 
and teachers is also part of the strategy.

Figure 5: Percentage of eligible electors enrolled in  
Victoria at 30 June

Victoria
National average
Target

91.90

90.95

89.69

92.17

93.82

92.7692.88

94.42

92.51

94.53

2004–05 2005–06 2006–07 2007–08 2008–09 2009–10

93.01
92.67
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AEC programs
VEC programs

Target: 25% sourced
from VEC programs

29.61%

70.39%
75.19%

24.81%

69.05%

30.95%
26.73%

73.27%

8.72%

91.28%

2005–06 2006–07 2009–102008–092007–08 

Figure 6: Youth enrolment 2005–06 to 2009–10 

2005–06 2006–07
(State election)

2007–08
(Federal election)

2008–09
(Council elections)

2009–10

Enrolments, Victorians, 17 years
Enrolments, Victorians, 18–25 years
Victorian enrolments (percentage of eligible electors)

Target: at least 2 percentage points above national average

28.19

79.25

90.85
92.80

81.5482.68

93.0192.90

83.77

92.01

80.92

Continuous roll update

Figure 7: Enrolment changes sourced from continuous 
roll update programs, 2009–10
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Compulsory enrolment enforcement

State election initiative

Election Roadshow 

Roadshow will travel around 

Roadshow will 
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Youth turnout at Altona District by-electionTurnout at by-elections

Figure 9: Turnout at council and State by-elections, 2009–10 
(% of total enrolment)

78.07 77.03
80.63

62.66

86.02

Strathbogie
Hughes Creek 

Ward

Greater Geelong
Cowie Ward

Murrindindi
King Parrot Ward

Nillumbik
Ellis Ward

Altona District
by-election
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Services for voters 

included:

Accessible voting centres 

Voting centre maps

Multi-language instructions

Braille ballot papers

Electronically assisted voting

Voting before election day

Armed services personnel serving overseas

Voting in the Antarctic 

Voting interstate or overseas 
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State election initiative

Improved and expanded electronic voting facilities

Enforcement of compulsory voting



o
ur co

re business
o

ur year
o

ur voters
o

ur peo
ple

financial statem
ents

o
ur co

m
m

issio
n

appendices

Follow-up of multiple voting 

Figure 10: Apparent multiple voter follow-up, Altona District by-election 

Notice Number of Notices Claimed voted once Admitted voting twice Return to sender No response

1st notice 1

2nd notice 0

Final notice 2 1 0 4

State election initiative

Electronic roll mark-off at early voting 
and selected voting centres
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State election initiative

In-language instructions in voting compartments
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Mapping services Roll products and services

Electoral Act 
2002.

Outlook, 2010–11
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Recruitment

Figure 11: Staff profile at 30 June 2006–10
(Includes Specialist technical staff. Does not include statutorily appointed officers)

Ongoing Fixed term 
and casual

Number
(Headcount)

Full-time 
(Headcount)

Part-time 
(Headcount)

FTE FTE Total

2010 59 47

2009 52 8

2008 63 54 9 74

2007 58 7 63

2006 47 7



34 Victorian Electoral Commission

11.57%

18.84%

8.95%
9.72%

6.54%

2005–06 2006–07 2007–08 2008–09 2009–10

Figure 14: Staff turnover, 2005–06 to 2009–10

Figure 12: Staff profile at 30 June 2010
(Includes Specialist Technical Staff. Does not include statutorily appointed officers)

Ongoing  Fixed term
and casual

Number
(Headcount)

FTE FTE Totals

Gender

Male 25

Female 34

76.5

Age

Under 25

25–34 9

35–44

45–54

55–64

Over 64 2

76.5

Classification

STS

VPS Grade 1

VPS Grade 2

VPS Grade 3

VPS Grade 4

VPS Grade 5

VPS Grade 6 5

Total 59  54.9  21.6 76.5

Figure 13: Number of staff by gender at 30 June, 2006–10

Employment exemptions

Equal Opportunity Act 1984 to enable it to 

Equal Opportunity Act 1995

Staffing for 2010 State election

34.5

45.0

29.3

39.7

30.5

45.5

30.7

43.4

32.0

44.5

2006
Male Female

2007 2008 2009 2010
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Employment Diversity

State election initiative 

Online registration of expression of interest 
for employment as an election official 
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Figure 15: Training days per FTE, 2005–06 to 2009–10
Note: Figures for core staff only, excludes training for election officials.

1.49 1.66

5.21

6.98

2005–06 2006–07 2007–08 2008–09 2009–10

2.36

State election initiative

Online training for election officials
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35

142

2 0

27

2005–06 2006–07 2007–08 2008–09 2009–10

3

4

1

2 2

2005–06 2006–07 2007–08 2008–09 2009–10

Occupational health and safety audit

Hazards, incidents and injuries 

Figure 16: Hazards, incidents and injuries reported, 
2005–06 to 2009–10

Figure 18: Claims for WorkCover or workers compensation, 
2005–06 to 2009–10

Figure 17: Days lost as a result of workplace-related injury, 
2005–06 to 2009–10

(a) 2006–07 peak due to a high number of days lost for an injury that occurred 
at a previous workplace.

2005–06 2006–07 2007–08 2008–09 2009–10

4

5

0

3

5

10 10

0

4

2

1

8

3

77

Injuries election staff

Hazards
Injuries core staff
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9.2

13.0

6.8

11.5

15.6

2005–06 2006–07 2007–08 2008–09 2009–10

Flexible work arrangements Code of Conduct

Code of Conduct for Victorian Public Sector Employees 
of Special Bodies Public 
Administration Act 2004

Women’s affairs

Counselling services

Outlook, 2010–11

Figure 19: Accrued hours of flexi-time per FTE, 
VPS grades 1–4, 2005–06 to 2009–10

Grievances
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Public Administration Act 2004

Governing legislation

Constitution Act 1975  Electoral 
Act 2002

Legislation 

– Agricultural Industry Development Act 1990

– Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities Act 2006 

– City of Melbourne Act 2001

– Education and Training Reform Act 2006

– Electoral Boundaries Commission Act 1982

– Essential Services Act 1958

– Freedom of Information Act 1982

– Health Services Act 1988

– Information Privacy Act 2002

– Infringements Act 2006

– Juries Act 2000

– Legal Profession Act 2004

– Liquor Control Reform Act 1998

– Local Government Act 1989

– Local Government (Democratic) Reform Act 2003 

– Local Government Amendment (Elections) Act 2008

– Local Government Amendment (Conflicting Duties) Act 2009

– Monetary Units Act 2004

– Senate Elections Act 1958

– Shop Trading Reform Act 1996

– Vital State Projects Act 1976

Regulations
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Figure 20: Organisational structure

Electoral Commissioner

Deputy Commissioner Elections

Electoral Enrolment

Management Group Electoral Commissioner – Steve Tully
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Deputy Electoral Commissioner – Liz Williams

Elections Branch

Election Administration Branch Manager – Liz Williams 
(Deputy Commissioner)

Election Services Manager – Glenda Frazer

Communication, Education and Research Branch

Manager – Sue Lang

Electoral Enrolment Branch 

Manager – Paul Strickland 
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Finance and Budget Branch

Manager – David Clarke CPA

Information Technology Branch 

Manager – Simon Hancock

Human Resources Branch 

Manager – Gill Kelly 

Human Resources Advisor, June 2009 to April 2010 
– Tania Kyriakou

Consultation groups, committees and teams
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Accountability and transparency

Annual Financial Statements and Audit Committee

The primary objective of the Audit Committee is to assist the 
Electoral Commissioner in fulfilling the VEC’s responsibilities 
and to add value to the accounting, operational practices, 
controls and risk strategies of the Commission.

This involves overseeing:

statements and; 

internal and external audit and monitoring; 

and procedures and the Victorian Government Risk 

the Electoral Commissioner in the Annual Report; and

In 2009–10 the Committee comprised:

election official; and

The Committee held four formal meetings during the year, 

committee members, the Electoral Commissioner and 

outcomes. The internal and external auditors attended 
meetings as required.

meetings including:

raised.

outcomes of audits conducted for:

Financial Management Compliance Framework, 
incorporating the Risk Management Framework

to provide for effective, efficient and responsible financial 
management of public resources.

includes financial code of conduct; financial governance 
including the establishment of an Audit Committee; 
financial risk management; authorisations; internal and 
external audit.

the financial management team; policies and procedures; 
managing outsourced services; information technology 
management, operations, development and change; and 
education and training.

part 7 of the Financial Management Act 1994; performance 
management and evaluation; financial management 
compliance obligations, tax compliance, purchasing cards 
and thefts and losses compliance.

risk management standard across public sector entities, and 
the Electoral Commissioner is responsible for the development 

ensure that risks are being managed in a consistent manner.

The VEC has both legislated and organisational processes in place to ensure transparency and 
accountability to the Victorian public. These include internal and external auditing, regular reporting 

statements as part of this report. 
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Corporate planning and reporting

VEC Corporate Plan 2007–2012

Disclosure index

Municipal Electoral Tribunal

Local Government Act 1989

Local Government Act 1989

Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal

Local Government Act 1989

Pecuniary interest declaration

Contracts and consultancies

Whistleblowers protection

Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001 

Whistleblowers Protection Act 
2001
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Additional information available on request

Freedom of 
Information Act 1982

Identifying and managing risk

Information and records management

Freedom of information

Freedom of Information Act 1982

Freedom of Information Act 1982

Information privacy

Electoral Act 2002

Information Privacy Act 2002

Electoral Enrolment 
Information: Collection and Disclosure Practices
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Privacy of enrolment information

Mandatory provision of enrolment information

Electoral Act 2002

Juries
Act 2000

Local Government Act 1989

Discretionary provision of enrolment information

Electoral Act 2002

Electoral Act 2002

Sustainability
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41%

25%

1%

12%

21%

Non-recyclable
waste types

Recyclable
paper

Recyclable
carboard

Other
recyclables

Compostables

Figure 21: Breakdown of rubbish in VEC waste bins 
at rubbish audit, June 2010

459.14

459.26

472.69
465.82

479.75

401.63

418.43

435.13

2006–07 2007–08 2008–09 2009–10

FTE HC

Figure 22: Energy consumption at VEC head office per 
FTE and per head count, 2006–07 to 2009–10

State election initiative
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The VEC’s financial year in review

Year  Appropriation Election activity

2005–06 $23.812 million  By-elections, fee-for-service

2006–07 $36.019 million  State election, by-elections, 
fee-for-service

2007–08 $15.604 million  By-elections, fee-for-service

2008–09 $29.984 million  Local government, by-elections, 
fee-for-service

2009–10 $19.250 million  By-elections, fee-for-service

Revenue and Expenses

Core services

State elections and by-elections

Local government elections and by-elections

Fee-for-service elections

Representation reviews

This report does not form part of the audited financial statements



51

o
ur co

re business
o

ur year
o

ur voters
o

ur peo
ple

financial statem
ents

o
ur co

m
m

issio
n

appendices

Figure 23: Controlled revenue and expenses for the year ended 30 June 2010

Core services State elections 
and by-

elections

Local 
government 

elections

Local 
government 
by-elections

Fee-for-service 
elections

Electoral 
representation 

reviews

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Income

444 104 58

Expenses

1

amortisation

57

Total expenses 444 104 58

Figure 24: Cost after recouping from fees, fines and charges (including accruals)

Core services State and 
by-elections

Local 
government 

elections

Local 
government 
by-elections

Fee-for-service 
elections

Electoral 
Representation 

reviews

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Income

114 113

Total expenses 444 104 58

Net cost after 
recouping from 
fees fines and 
charges

55
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Assets 

Liabilities

Equity

Outlook, 2010–11
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for the financial year ended 30 June 2010

Notes
2010

$’000
2009

$’000

Continuing operations

Income from transactions

1F,4,22  19,250  29,984 

Total income from transactions  19,250  29,984 

Expenses from transactions

 7,888  12,867 

 10,178  16,636 

Depreciation and amortisation  1,696  1,661 

 6  7 

5(d)  129  129 

5  –  10 

Total expenses from transactions  19,897  31,310 

Net result from transactions (net operating balance)  (647)  (1,326)

Other economic flows included in net result

6  –  – 

Total other economic flows included in net result  –  – 

Net result from continuing operations  (647)  (1,326)

 –  – 

Net result 21b  (647)  (1,326)

Other economic flows – other non-owner changes in equity

 –  – 

Total other economic flows – other non-owner changes in equity  –  – 

Comprehensive result  (647)  (1,326)

Notes: (i) Other operating expenses include bad debts expense from transactions that are mutually agreed – refer to definition of “transactions” in note 29
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as at 30 June 2010

Notes
2010

$’000
2009

$’000

Assets

Financial assets

1J,21  2  2 

1J,7  426  647 

12  632  371 

Total financial assets  1,060  1,020 

Non-financial assets

1K,9  1,737  886 

8(a)  –  29 

1K,10  755  1,016 

1K,11  4,200  5,342 

Total non-financial assets  6,692  7,273 

Total assets  7,752  8,293 

Liabilities

Payables 1L,13  287  503 

8(a)  –  29 

1M,14  63  83 

1L,15  1,492  1,447 

Total liabilities  1,842  2,062 

Net assets  5,910  6,231 

Equity

 (15,110)  (14,463)

 21,020  20,694 

Net worth  5,910  6,231 

18

19



Changes due to

Notes

Equity at
1 July 2009

Total 
comprehensive

-result

Transactions 
with owners in 
their capacity 

as owners

 Equity at 
30 June 2010

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

2010

Accumulated surplus / (deficit) 21(b)  (14,463)  (647)  –  (15,110)

 –  –  –  – 

 (14,463)  (647)  –  (15,110)

Contributions by owners

22  20,694  –  326  21,020 

 20,694  –  326  21,020 

Total equity at end of the financial year  6,231  (647)  326  5,910 

2009

Accumulated surplus / (deficit) 21(b)  (13,137)  (1,326)  –  (14,463)

 –  –  –  – 

 (13,137)  (1,326)  –  (14,463)

Contributions by owners

22  20,492  – 202 20,694

 20,492  – 202 20,694

Total equity at end of the financial year  7,355  (1,326) 202 6,231

56

for the financial year ended 30 June 2010



Notes
2010

$’000
2009

$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts

 19,250  29,984 

 801  1,460 

Total receipts  20,051  31,444 

Payments

Payments to suppliers and employees  (19,113)  (29,848)

 (801)  (1,460)

 (129)  (129)

Interest and other costs of finance paid  (6)  (7)

Total payments  (20,049)  (31,444)

Net cash flows from / (used in) operating activities 21(b)  2  – 

Cash flows from investing activities

22  (326)  (202)

 –  – 

Net cash flows from / (used in) investing activities  (326)  (202)

Cash flows from financing activities

 309  174 

Repayment of finance leases  17  28 

Net cash flows from / (used in) financing activities  326  202 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  2  – 

 (1)  (1)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 21(a)  1  (1)
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Note 1 58

Note 2 Departmental (controlled) outputs 66

Note 3 67

Note 4 Income from transactions 68

Note 5 68

Note 6 69

Note 7 69

Note 8 70
sale and directly associated liabilities

Note 9 70

Note 10 71

Note 11 72

Note 12 72

Note 13 Payables 73

Note 14 73

Note 15 74

(A) Statement of compliance

Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable 

(B) Basis of accounting preparation 
and measurement

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, 

of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from 

Note 16 75

Note 17 Leases 76

Note 18 77

Note 19 77

Note 20 Financial instruments 78

Note 21 89

Note 22 89
Parliamentary and special appropriations

Note 23 89

Note 24 Trust account balances 90

Note 25 Responsible persons 90

Note 26 90

Note 27 Remuneration of auditors 90

Note 28 90

Note 29 91
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(C) Reporting entity

Victoria, established pursuant to an order made by the 
Premier under the Electoral Act 2002

Objectives and funding

Outputs of the Commission

(D) Basis of consolidation

Administered items

disclosed, administered items are accounted for on the 

Funds held in trust

on a fiduciary and custodial basis, and therefore are not 

(E) Scope and presentation of financial statements

Comprehensive operating statement

Presentation 
of financial statements

Australian system of government finance statistics: concepts, 
sources and methods 2005 

to arise as a result of policy decisions, usually interactions 
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Asset class Useful life

Term of lease

3 years

2 – 10 years

5 – 14 years

2 – 3 years

Balance sheet

Statement of changes in equity

Cash flow statement

107 Cash Flow Statements

(F) Income from transactions

Revenue from government

Department of Justice, and applied for the purposes defined 
under the Electoral Act 2002

Where applicable, amounts disclosed as income are net 

are disclosed as administered income in the schedule of 

G) Expenses from transactions

Employee expenses

are members of defined benefit or defined contribution 

employer contributions that are paid or payable in respect 

Superannuation – State superannuation defined benefit plans

statement in relation to employer contributions for members 
of defined benefit superannuation plans is simply the 
employer contributions that are paid or payable to these plans 

The Department of Treasury and Finance (DTF) in their 

statement in respect of defined benefit superannuation plans 

Depreciation and amortisation
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The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an 

Interest expense

Capital asset charge

Other operating expenses

Supplies and services

Bad and doubtful debts

Financial assets – Impairment of financial assets

(H) Other economic flows included in the net result

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets

Disposal of non-financial assets

Impairment of non-financial assets

If there is an indication of impairment, the assets concerned 

be replaced unless a specific decision to the contrary has been 

(I) Administered income

Taxes, fines and regulatory fees

(J) Financial assets

Cash and deposits
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Receivables

Impairment of financial assets

Impairment of financial assets

Impairment of assets

(K) Non-Financial assets

Inventories

at zero or nominal cost, or for consumption in the ordinary 

Plant and equipment

determined by reference to the asset’s depreciated 

Leasehold improvements

Revaluations of non-current physical assets

Intangible assets

less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 

Other non-financial assets

Prepayments

Impairment of non-financial assets

Other economic flows included in net result

(L) Liabilities

Payables

Payables consist predominantly of accounts payable and other 
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Provisions

Employee benefits

(i) Wages and salaries and annual leave

(ii) Long service leave

Current liability – unconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes 

defer the settlement of the entitlement should an employee 

Non-current liability – conditional LSL is disclosed as 

defer the settlement of the entitlement until the employee 

Other economic flows 
included in net result

(iii) Termination benefits

Employee benefits on-costs

(M) Leases

or finance leases based on the economic substance of the 

Finance leases

Commission as lessee

At the commencement of the lease term, finance leases are 

shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the term 
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Operating leases

Commission as lessee

(N) Equity

Contributions by owners

(O) Commitments

(P) Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

(Q) Accounting for the Goods and Services Tax 
(GST)

(R) Events after reporting date

period and before the date the financial statements are 

and the date the financial statements are authorised for issue 

(S) Rounding of amounts

(T) AASs issued that are not yet effective

interpretations (applicable to departments) had been issued 
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Standard/
Interpretation Summary

Applicable for annual 
reporting periods 
beginning or ending on

Impact on VEC 
financial statements

instruments
This standard simplifies 

classification and measurement 

Financial 
instruments: recognition and 
measurement (AASB 139 financial 
instruments: recognition and 
measurement).

1 Jan 2013

disclosures (Dec 2009) 1 Jan 2011

Amendments to 

107, 117, 118, 136 & 139]

1 Jan 2010

Amendments to 

7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 
121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 
139, 1023 and 1038 and 
Interpretations 10 and 12]

1 Jan 2013

Amendments to 
Australian Interpretation 
– Prepayments of a 

Interpretation 14]

Amendment to Interpretation 

Prepayments of a minimum funding 
requirement

1 Jan 2011

General 
Terminology changes 1 Jan 2010

of Different Tiers of 
This standard establishes a 

financial statements

1 July 2013 disclosures in the financial reports of 
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Election Services

Description of output

Objectives
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State Local Government

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Administered income from transactions

 653  16,790 

Fines  217  205  2,606  4,886 

 3  6  496 

 53  43 

Total administered income from transactions  926 17,038  2,612 5,382

Administered expenses from transactions

 2,767  15,400 

 2,606  4,886 

 3  46  6 

 53  496 

Total administered expenses from transactions  2,823 15,446  2,612 5,382

Total administered net result from transactions 
(net operating balance)

 (1,897)  1,592  -  - 

Administered financial assets

 20  2  14  1,457 

 136  2,644 

Total administered financial assets  156 2,646  14 1,457

Administered liabilities

 20  2  4  1,457 

 28  640  10 

Total administered liabilities  48 642  14  1,457 

Total administered net assets  108  2,004  -  - 

are included in the financial statements (balance sheet, 

these administered items are consolidated into the financial 
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2010
$’000

2009
 $’000 

(a) Revenue from government

 19,250  29,984 

Total revenue from government  19,250  29,984 

(b) Other income

Total other income  -  - 

2010
$’000

2009
 $’000 

(a) Employee benefits

Post employment benefits

 614  881 

Termination benefits

 7,274  11,986 

Total employee expenses  7,888  12,867 

(b) Depreciation and amortisation

 554  519 

 1,142  1,142 

Total depreciation and amortisation  1,696  1,661 

(c) Interest expense

Interest on finance leases  6  7 

Total interest expense  6  7 

(d) Other operating expenses

Purchase of supplies and consumables  3,535  10,490 

 6,187  5,569 

Maintenance  315  435 

 129  129 

 141  142 

 10,307  16,765 

Minimum lease payments  10 

 10 

Total other operating expenses  10,307  16,775 

68

for the financial year ended 30 June 2010



2010
$’000

2009
 $’000 

(a) Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets

Total net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets  -  - 

(b) Net gain(loss) on financial instruments

Total net gain/(loss) on financial instruments  -  - 

(c) Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows

Total other gains/(losses) from other economic flows  -  - 

2010
$’000

2009
 $’000 

Current receivables

Statutory

 28  640 

 398 

 7 

Total current receivables  426  647 

Non-current receivables

Statutory

Total non-current receivables  -  - 

Total receivables  426  647 

Notes: (i)The amounts recognised from Victorian Government represent funding for all commitments incurred through the appropriations and are drawn from 
the consolidated fund as the commitments fall due. [Appropriations are amounts owed by Victorian Government as legislated in the Appropriations 
Act. Due to the existence of a legislative instrument, the appropriation receivable to an entity is statutory in nature, and hence not within the scope of 
financial instrument standards.]
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Table 10.1: Classification by ‘Purpose Group’ – carrying amounts (i) 

Public Administration

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Nature-based classification

 706  905 

 49  111 

Assets under construction at cost

Net carrying amount of PPE  755  1,016 

Notes: (i) Plant and equipment are classified primarily by the ‘purpose’ for which the assets are used, according to one of six ‘purpose groups’ based upon 
government purpose classifications (GPC). All assets within a purpose group are further sub categorised according to the asset’s ‘nature’, with each 
sub category being classified as a separate class of asset for financial reporting purposes.

2010
$’000

2009
 $’000 

Current inventories

At cost  1,737  886 

Total inventories  1,737  886 

2010
$’000

2009
 $’000 

(a) Non-current assets classified as held for sale

Non-current assets

 29 

Total non-current assets classified as held for sale  -  29 

(b) Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale

 29 

Total liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale  -  29 

70

for the financial year ended 30 June 2010



o
ur co

re business
o

ur year
o

ur voters
o

ur peo
ple

financial statem
ents

o
ur co

m
m

issio
n

appendices

71Annual Report 2009–10

Table 10.2: Gross carrying amounts and accumulated depreciation

Gross carrying amount Accumulated depreciation Net carrying amount

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Nature-based classification

 2,957  2,702  (2,251)  (1,797)  706  905 

 358  358  (309)  (247)  49  111 

  Assets under construction 
at cost

Net carrying amount of PPE  3,315  3,060  (2,560)  (2,044)  755  1,016 

Table 10.3: Classification by ‘Public Administration’ Purpose Group – Movements in carrying amounts

Plant, equipment 
and vehicles 
at fair value

Leasehold 
improvements

Assets under 
construction at cost Total

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

 905  1,164  111  174  1,016  1,338 

Additions  309  234  309  234 

Disposals  (16)  (37)  (16)  (37)

 (492)  (456)  (62)  (63)  (554)  (519)

Closing balance  706  905  49  111  -  -  755  1,016 

Note: (i) Fair value assessments have been performed for all classes of assets within this purpose group and the decision was made that movements were not 
material (less than or equal to 10 per cent) for a full revaluation. The next scheduled full revaluation for this purpose group will be conducted in 2012. 

Table 10.3: Aggregate depreciation recognised as an expense during the year

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

 63  63 

 473  428 

 18  28 

 554  519 

Term of lease

3 years

2 to 10 years

5 to 14 years

2 to 3 years
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Capitalised software development

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Gross carrying amount

Opening balance  13,684 13,684

Closing balance  13,684 13,684

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

Opening balance  (8,342)  (7,200)

 (1,142)  (1,142)

Closing balance  (9,484)  (8,342)

Net book value at the end of the financial year  4,200  5,342 

Note: (i) Amortisation expense is included in the line item ‘depreciation and amortisation expense’ in the comprehensive operating statement.

Significant intangible assets

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Current other assets

Prepayments  632  371 

Total current other assets  632  371 

Non-current other assets

Total non-current other assets  -  - 

Total other assets  632  371 
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2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Current payables

Contractual

 134  303 

 153  72 

 287  375 

Statutory

 128 

Total current payables  287  503 

Non-current payables

Contractual

Total non-current payables  -  - 

Total payables  287  503 

Note: (i) The average credit period is 30 days. No interest is charged on payables.

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Current borrowings

 49  18 

 1  3 

Total current borrowings  50  21 

Non-current borrowings

 13  62 

Total non-current borrowings  13  62 

Total borrowings  63  83 

Note: (i) Secured by the assets leased. Finance leases are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets revert to the lessor in the event of default.

(a) Maturity analysis of contractual payables (b) Nature and extent of risk arising 
from contractual payables

( a) Maturity analysis of borrowings

(b) Nature and extent of risk arising from 
borrowings

(c) Defaults and breaches
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2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Current provisions

 409  513 

 653  601 

 1,062  1,114 

 171  171 

 171  171 

Total current provisions  1,233  1,285 

Non-current provisions

 224  140 

 35  22 

Total non-current provisions  259  162 

Total provisions  1,492  1,447 

(a) Employee benefits and related on-costs (i)

Current employee benefits

 409  513 

 653  601 

Non-current employee benefits

 224  140 

Total employee benefits  1,286  1,254 

 171  171 

 35  22 

Total on-costs  206  193 

Total employee benefits and related on-costs  1,492  1,447 

Note: (i) Provisions for employee benefits consist of amounts for annual leave and long service leave accrued by employees, not including on-costs.
(ii) The amounts disclosed are nominal amounts.
(iii) The amounts disclosed are discounted to present values.
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(b) Movement in provisions Employee 
Benefits

 On-costs 

2010
$’000

2010
$’000

Opening balance  1,254  193 

 548  93 

future economic benefits  (516)  (80)

Closing balance  1,286  206 

 1,062  171 

 224  35 

 1,286  206 

Paid Contribution for the Year Contribution Outstanding at year End

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Defined benefit plans:

 83  80  6 

Defined contribution plans:

 13  21  1 

 3  24 

 26  31  1 

 25  28  1 

 13  16 

Unisuper  13  8  1 

Vicsuper  383  566  16 

 51  107  4 

Total  610  881  30  - 

Notes: (i) The bases for determining the level of contributions is determined by the various actuaries of the superannuation plans.
(ii) The above amounts were measured as at 30 June of each year, or in the case of employer contribution plans they relate to the years ended 30 June.

liability in respect of the plan(s) because the entity has no 
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Disclosures for lessees – finance leases

Leasing arrangements

Minimum future lease 
payments (i)

Present value of minimum 
future lease payments

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Other finance lease liabilities payable

 52  52  50  50 

 14  67  13  64 

Minimum future lease payments  66  119  63  114 

 4  10  3  9 

Present value of minimum lease payments  62  109  60  105 

Included in the financial statements as:

 49  47 

 13  62 

 62  109 

Note: (i) Minimum future lease payments include the aggregate of all lease payments and any guaranteed residual.

Disclosure for lessees-operating leases

Leasing arrangements

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Other non-cancellable operating lease payables

 1,135  1,179 

 919  1,923 

 2,054  3,102 

(a) Maturity analysis of finance lease liabilities

(b) Nature and extent of risk arising finance lease liabilities
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(a) Commitments are payable as follows

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

(i) Capital expenditure commitments

Intangible assets

Total capital expenditure commitments  -  - 

(ii) Other expenditure commitments

Outsourcing commitments (i)

 4,069  2,139 

Total other expenditure commitments  4,069  2,139 

Total commitments for expenditure (inclusive of GST)  4,069  2,139 

 (203)  (194)

Total commitments for expenditure (exclusive of GST)  3,866  1,945 

Notes: (i) Commitments under outsourcing contracts for joint electoral roll procedure at the end of the reporting period.
(ii) All amounts shown in the commitments note are nominal amounts inclusive of GST.
(iii) Finance lease and non-cancellable operating lease commitments are disclosed on Note 17.

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Contingent liabilities

Notes: (i) A contingent liability exists for legal action in relation to Electoral Act decisions, Municipal Electoral Tribunals, and offences. 
However, as at 30 June 2010, there is no reliable estimate of the liability.

(ii) There were no contingent assets as at 30 June 2010.
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(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

– cash assets

– finance lease payables

Table 20.1 Categorisation of financial instruments

($ thousand) 

Contractual 
financial assets/

liabilities
designated at fair 

value through 
profit/loss

Contractual 
financial assets/
liabilities held-

for-trading at fair 
value through 

profit/loss 

Contractual 
financial
assets – 

loans and 
receivables 

Contractual 
financial

assets 
available
-for-sale 

Contractual 
financial

liabilities at 
amortised 

cost
Total

2010

Contractual financial assets

 2  2 

Total contractual financial 
assets

 -  -  2  -  -  2 

Contractual financial liabilities

Payables (i)

 287  287 

  Amounts payable to 

Lease liabilities  63  63 

Total contractual financial 
liabilities

 -  -  350  -  -  350 

Note (i) The total amount disclosed here exclude statutory amounts
(e.g. amounts owing from Victorian Government and GST input tax credit recoverable, and taxes payable)
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Table 20.1 Categorisation of financial instruments (continued)

($ thousand) 

Contractual 
financial assets/

liabilities
designated at fair 

value through 
profit/loss

Contractual 
financial assets/
liabilities held-

for-trading at fair 
value through 

profit/loss 

Contractual 
financial
assets – 

loans and 
receivables 

Contractual 
financial

assets 
available
-for-sale 

Contractual 
financial

liabilities at 
amortised 

cost
Total

2009

Contractual financial assets

 2  2 

 7  7 

Total contractual financial 
assets

 -  -  9  -  -  9 

Contractual financial liabilities

Payables (i)

 375  375 

  Amounts payable to 

Lease liabilities  111  111 

Total contractual financial 
liabilities

 -  -  486  -  -  486 

Note (i) The total amount disclosed here exclude statutory amounts
(e.g. amounts owing from Victorian Government and GST input tax credit recoverable, and taxes payable)
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Table 20.2 Net holding gain/(loss) on financial instruments by category

 ($ thousand) 

Net holding gain/ 
(loss)

Total interest 
income/ 

(expense) 

Fee income/ 
(expense) 

Impairment loss Total

2010

Contractual financial assets

Total contractual financial assets  -  -  -  -  - 

Contractual financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Total contractual financial liabilities  -  -  -  -  - 

 ($ thousand) 

Net holding gain/ 
(loss)

Total interest 
income/ 

(expense) 

Fee income/ 
(expense) 

Impairment loss Total

2009

Contractual financial assets

Total contractual financial assets  -  -  -  -  - 

Contractual financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Total contractual financial liabilities  -  -  -  -  - 
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–  For financial liabilities measured at amortised cost, the net 

(b) Credit risk

arises from the potential default of counter party on their 

financial assets is minimal because the main debtor is 

its contractual financial assets and mainly obtains contractual 

Table 20.3 Credit quality of contractual financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

 ($ thousand) 

Financial 
institutions (AAA 

credit rating)

Government 
agencies (AAA 
credit rating) 

Government 
agencies (BBB 
credit rating) 

Other (min BBB 
credit rating)

Total

2010

Total contractual financial assets  -  -  -  -  - 

2009

 7  7 

Total contractual financial assets  7  -  -  -  7 

Note: (i) The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. Amounts owing from Victorian Government and GST input tax credit recoverable)
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Contractual financial assets that are either past 
due or impaired

Table 20.4 Ageing analysis of contractual financial assets

($ thousand)

Carrying
amount

Not past 
due and not 

impaired

Past due but not impaired Impaired 
financial

assets
less than
1 month 1-3 months

3 months
-1 year 1-5 years

2010

Total  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

2009

 7  7 

Total  7  7  -  -  -  -  - 

Note: (i) The carrying amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts 
(e.g. Amounts owing from Victorian Government and GST input tax credit recoverable)

(c) Liquidity risk
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Table 20.5 Maturity analysis of contractual financial liabilities (ii)

($ thousand)

Carrying
amount

Nominal
Amount

Maturity dates

less than 
1 month 1-3 months

3 months 
-1 year 1-5 years 5+ years

2010

Payables (i)

  Amounts payable to

 287  287  287 

Borrowings

 1  1  1 

Lease liabilities  62  66  2  4  46  14 

Total  350  354  290  4  46  14  - 

2009

Payables (i)

Amounts payable to

 375  375  375 

Borrowings

 3  3  3 

Lease liabilities  108  118  31  6  15  66 

Total  486  496  409  6  15  66  - 

Note: (i) The carrying amounts disclosed exclude statutory amounts (e.g. GST payables).
(ii) Maturity analysis is presented using the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

(d) Market risk

Foreign currency risk Interest rate risk
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Table 20.6: Interest rate exposure of financial instruments

($ thousand)

Weighted 
average 

interest rate %
Carrying
amount

Interest rate exposure

Fixed interest 
rate

Variable 
interest rate

Non-interest 
bearing

2010

Financial assets

 2  2 

Total financial assets  -  -  -  - 

Financial liabilities

Payables (i)

 287  287 

Finance lease liabilities  62  62 

 1 

Total financial liabilities  350  62  -  287 

2009

Financial assets

 2  2 

 7  7 

Total financial assets  9  -  -  9 

Financial liabilities

Payables (i)

 375  375 

Finance lease liabilities  108  108 

 3 

Total financial liabilities  486  108  -  375 

Note:  (1) The carrying amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts 
(e.g. Amounts owing from Victorian Government, GST input tax credit recoverable, and GST payables).
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Sensitivity disclosure analysis

Table 20.7: Market risk exposure – foreign exchange

($ thousand)

Foreign exchange

-5 % +15 %

Carrying amount Net result Available-for-
sale revaluation 

surplus

Net result Available-for-
sale revaluation 

surplus

2010

Contractual financial assets

 2 

Total impact  2  -  -  -  - 

Contractual financial liabilities

Payables (i)  287 

 62 

 1 

Total impact  350  -  -  -  - 

2009

Contractual financial assets

 2 

 7 

Total impact  9  -  -  -  - 

Contractual financial liabilities

Payables (i)  375 

 108 

 3 

Total impact  486  -  -  -  - 

Notes: (i) The carrying amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts 
(e.g. Amounts owing from the Victorian Government, GST input tax credit recoverable, and GST).
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Table 20.7: Market risk exposure – interest rate

($ thousand)

Interest rate

-200 basis points +200 basis points

-2 % +2%

Carrying amount Net result Available-for-sale 
revaluation surplus

Net result Available-for-sale 
revaluation surplus

2010

Contractual financial assets

 2 

Total impact  2  -  -  -  - 

Contractual financial liabilities

 62 

 1 

Total impact  63  -  -  -  - 

2009 -150 basis points +100 basis points

Contractual financial assets

 2 

 7 

Total impact  9  -  -  -  - 

Contractual financial liabilities

 108 

 3 

Total impact  111  -  -  -  - 

Table 20.7: Market risk exposure – other price

($ thousand)

Other price

-1 % +1%

Carrying amount Net result Available-for-sale 
revaluation surplus

Net result Available-for-sale 
revaluation surplus

2010

Contractual financial assets

Total impact  -  -  -  - 

2009 -1% +1%

Contractual financial assets

Total impact  -  -  -  - 
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(e) Fair value

Table 20.8: Comparison between carrying amount and fair value

($ thousand)

Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

2010 2010 2009 2009

Contractual financial assets

 2  2  2  2 

 7  7 

Total contractual financial assets  2  2  9  9 

Contractual financial liabilities

Payables (i)

 153  153  72  72 

 134  134  303  303 

 1  1  3  3 

Lease liabilities  62  62  80  80 

Total contractual financial liabilities  350  350  458  458 

Note: (i) The carrying amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. Amounts owing from Victorian Government, GST input tax credit recoverable, 
and GST payables).

financial instrument assets and liabilities recorded in the 

contractual financial assets and liabilities are the same as their 
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Table 20.9: Financial assets measured at fair value

($ thousand)

Carrying amount as 
at 30 June 2010

Fair value measurement at end of reporting period using:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

2010

Total  -  -  -  - 

Carrying amount as 
at 30 June 2009

Fair value measurement at end of reporting period using:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

2009

Total  -  -  -  - 

($ thousand)

2010 2009

Total cash and deposits disclosed in the balance sheet (i)  2  2 

 (1)  (3)

Balance as per cash flow statement  1  (1)

Note: (i) Due to the State of Victoria’s investment policy and government funding arrangements, the Commission does not hold a large cash reserve in its 
bank accounts. Cash received by the Commission from the generation of income is generally paid into the State’s bank account, known as the public 
account. Similarly, any Commission expenditure, including those in the form of cheques drawn by the Commission for the payment of goods and 
services to its suppliers and creditors are made via the Public Account. The process is such that, the public account would remit to the Commission 
the cash required for the amount drawn on the cheques. This remittance by the public account occurs upon the presentation of the cheques by the 
Commission’s suppliers or creditors.

of a notional shortfall for the payment of unpresented 

(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
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($ thousand)

2010 2009

Net result for the period  (647)  (1,326)

Non-cash movements:

Depreciation and amortisation of non current assets  1,696  1,661 

Movements in assets and liabilities

 221  (435)

 (851)  126 

 (261)  (185)

 (216)  (6)

 45  151 

 15  14 

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities  2  - 

(b) Reconciliation of net result for the period to net cash flows from operating activities

Revenue from government
($ thousand)

2010 2009

Controlled

 19,250 29,984

Additions to net assets  326 202

Administered

 53 43

Total  19,629 30,229

of outputs’ and ‘additions to net assets’ are disclosed as 
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($ thousand)

2010 2009

Cash and cash equivalents

Administered trusts

 4 

 30  1,459 

Total administered trusts  34  1,459 

($ thousand)

2010 2009

Victorian Auditor General’s Office

 17  16 

 17  16 

(a) Trust Account Balances relating to trust accounts controlled and/or administered by the Commission

(b) Trust accounts opened and closed by the Commission during 2010

Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994,

Names

1 July 2009 to 30 June 2010
Ms Liz Williams
1 July 2009 to 30 June 2010

Remuneration
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Comprehensive result

Capital asset charge

Commitments

Employee benefits expenses

redundancy payments, defined benefit superannuation plans 

Financial asset

another entity under conditions that are potentially 

Financial instrument

Financial liability

another entity under conditions that are potentially 

Financial statements

‘financial statements’ is used, it may include only the main 

Intangible assets

Interest expense

Net result
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for the financial year ended 30 June 2010

Net result from transactions / net operating balance

Non-financial assets

Other economic flows

Payables

Receivables

Sales of goods and services

Supplies and services

Transactions

to arise as a result of policy decisions, usually an interaction 

simple terms, transactions arise from the policy decisions of 
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Accountable officer’s and chief finance 
and accounting officer’s declaration

We certify that the attached financial statements for the 

Financial 
Management Act 1994

We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out 

any particulars included in the financial statements to be 

We authorise the attached financial statements for issue 

David Clarke

Melbourne

Steven Tully

Melbourne
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Appendix 1
Council by-elections and countbacks, 2009–10

Municipality Ward Method Election day Voters roll Voter turnout Informal votes

Cost to
council 

($ ex. GST)

Strathbogie 
Shire Council

Hughes Creek Postal 19 Sept 2009 1,400 1,093  (78.07%) 32  (2.93%) 21,287.69

Greater Geelong 
City Council

Cowie Postal 6 March 2010 13,342 10,277 (77.03%) 390 (3.79%) 50,753.51

Murrindindi
Shire Council

King Parrot Postal 6 March 2010 2,054 1,287 (62.66%) 80 (6.22%) 20,489.03

Nillumbik
Shire Council 

Ellis Postal 12 June 2010 6,029 4,861  (80.63%) 165  (3.39%) 36,107.05

Figure 25: Council by-elections conducted, 2009–10

Council Ward Method Where conducted Countback date

Cost to 
council 

($ ex. GST)

Glen Eira Tucker Computer VEC 19 October 2009 3,214.83

Wyndham Chaffey Computer VEC 19 October 2009 3,526.83

Maroondah Arrabri Computer Ringwood 27 January 2010 6,349.75

Mansfield Mansfield Manual Mansfield 29 January 2010 1,575.31

Casey Four Oaks Computer Narre Warren 15 March 2010 6,915.84

Mount Alexander Castlemaine Manual Castlemaine 27 May 2010 1,831.01

Wyndham Chaffey Computer VEC 7 June 2010 3,117.91

Baw Baw Warragul Manual Warragul 16 June 2010 20,489.03

Figure 26: Council countbacks conducted, 2009–10
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Election Election date
Voting
method Voters Vacancies Candidates Count method Type

University of Melbourne 
Postgraduate Association 
(University Council)

25 Sept 2009 Postal 13,337  1  1  Preferential Election

University of Melbourne 
Postgraduate Association 
(GSA Council)

25 Sept 2009 Postal 13,337  1  1  Preferential Election

Legal Services Board 
(Advocates) 

19 May 2010 Postal 1,799 1 3
Proportional 
Representation

Election

Legal Services Board 
(Non Advocates) 

19 May 2010 Postal 13,915 2 3 Preferential Election

Victorian Canine 
Association Committee  
(Committee Member)

12 Mar 2010 Postal 9,400 3 3
Proportional 
Representation

Election

Victorian Canine 
Association Committee  
(Committee Member)

12 Mar 2010 Postal 9,400 1 1
Proportional 
Representation

Election

Election Election date Voting method Voters 

Balwyn (Stefan’s) Liquor Licensing Poll 12 Oct 2009 Postal 1,814

Camberwell (Il Borgo) Liquor Licensing Poll 14 Sept 2009 Postal 1,776

Surrey Hills (Chefs Tandoor) Liquor Licensing Poll 17 Aug 2009 Postal 2,088

Camberwell (Bliss@1393) Liquor Licensing Poll 5 Mar 2010 Postal 1,715

Camberwell (La Casalinga) Liquor Licensing Poll 21 June 2010 Postal 715

Figure 28: Fee-for-service elections and polls, 2009–10

Figure 27: Statutory elections, by-elections and polls, 2009–10

Appendix 2
Statutory and fee-for-service elections, by-elections and polls, 2009–10
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Appendix 3

Appendix 4

Report of the Electoral Boundaries Commission, 2009–10

Enforcement of compulsory voting, 2009–10

  Electoral Boundaries Commission

The Electoral Boundaries Commission (EBC) is constituted 
under the Electoral Boundaries Commission Act 1982 (the Act) 
to divide Victoria into State parliamentary electorates. The 
EBC must establish and maintain electorates of approximately 
equal enrolment (that is, not varying by more than 10% from 
the average for each House of Parliament) for the conduct of 
parliamentary elections.

The members of the Electoral Boundaries Commission 
during 2009–10 were:

1.  His Honour, Chief Judge Michael Rozenes QC, 
Chief Judge of the County Court (Chairman);

2.  Mr Steve Tully, Electoral Commissioner; and

3. Mr John Tulloch, Surveyor-General.

The VEC provides administrative and technical support to the 
EBC and Dr Paul Thornton-Smith, of the VEC, is the secretary 
to the EBC. 

On 23 June 2009, the EBC concluded that, on the basis of 
electoral enrolment statistics and the requirements of the Act, 
a redivision could not take place before the 2010 State election. 
During 2009–10, the EBC has conducted preliminary planning 
work for the redivision to commence in December 2012.

Electoral Boundaries Commission files are maintained at 
the VEC’s head office at Level 8, 505 Little Collins Street, 
Melbourne, separate from the VEC registry.

Election name 
& election date Stage Mailout Date Records

Penalties 
collected

Infringements 
Court lodge date

Number of 
records lodged

Balwyn North (Dunyazad) 
Liquor Licensing Poll 
16/02/09

1
2
3

12/03/09
24/04/09
30/06/09

219
132
59

 N/A
N/A

$774.00  21/08/09 47

Surrey Hills (Chefs Tandoor)
Liquor Licensing Poll
17/08/09

1
2
3

27/08/09
8/10/09
9/12/09

334
157
76

 N/A
$3,306.00

$753.00 2/02/10 62

Camberwell (Il Borgo) 
Liquor Licensing Poll
14/09/09

1
2
3

29/09/09
17/11/09

21/01/09

368
173
98

N/A 
$2,958.00

$1,101.00 17/05/10 71

Balwyn (Stefan’s)
Liquor Licensing Poll
12/10/09

1
2
3

29/10/09
22/12/09
17/02/09

236
136
70

N/A 
$2,436.00

$806.00 23/04/10 48

Altona State District
By-election
13/02/10

1
2
3

22/03/10
5/05/10
2/07/10

4,567
2,945
2,180

N/A
$32,886.00

N/A by 5/11/10 N/A

Greater Geelong Cowie Ward
By-election
6/03/10

1
2
3

6/04/10
14/05/10

9/07/10

1,378
836
584

N/A
$10,266.00

N/A by 14/11/10 N/A

Camberwell (Buicks Cafe)
Liquor Licensing Poll
9/03/10

1
2
3

31/03/10
11/05/10
6/07/10

197
111
60

N/A
$2,610.00

N/A by 11/11/10 N/A

Camberwell (Bliss@1393)
Liquor Licensing Poll
3/05/10

1
2
3

20/05/10
30/06/10
26/08/10

216
101

N/A

N/A
N/A
N/A by 30/12/10 N/A
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Political party Registered Officer

Australian Labor Party – Victorian Branch
Re-registered 5 November 2008

Mr Nicholas Reece

State Secretary
360 King Street
West Melbourne Vic 3003

Christian Democratic Party (Fred Nile Group)
Re-registered 19 December 2008

Mr Spero Katos

Registered Officer
PO Box 99, Sandown Village Vic 3171

Citizens Electoral Council (Victorian Division)
Re-registered 5 November 2008

Ms Gabrielle Marie Peut

Registered Officer
PO Box 376,Coburg Vic 3058

Country Alliance
Re-registered 5 November 2008

Mr Russell William Bate

Registered Officer
PO Box 107, Jamieson Vic 3723

Democratic Labor Party (DLP) of Australia
Re-registered 19 December 2008

Mr Kevin Butler 

Secretary
PO Box 147, Belmont Vic 3216

Family First Party Victoria Inc.
Re-registered 1 December 2008

Mr Joshua Reimer

Registered Officer
PO Box 4631,Knox City
Wantirna South Vic 3152

Liberal Party of Australia – Victorian Division
Re-registered 12 December 2008

Mr Tony Nutt

State Director
104 Exhibition Street
Melbourne Vic 3000

National Party of Australia – Victoria
Re-registered 5 November 2008

Mr Luke O’Sullivan

State Director
Level 10, 140 Bourke Street
Melbourne Vic 3000

Socialist Alliance (Victoria)
Re-registered 5 February 2009

Mr Jody Betzien

Registered Officer
PO Box 12427
A’Beckett Street 
Melbourne Vic 8006

The Australian Greens – Victoria
Re-registered 1 December 2008

Mr Gurmeet Sekhon

Registered Officer
GPO Box 4589, Melbourne Vic 3001

Appendix 5
Victorian registered political parties at 30 June 2010
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APU reference number: 137/09–10
Title of contract: 2010 State Election Advertising Services
Period of contract: March 2010 to December 2014
Contractor details Grey Global Group
Contractor ABN: 57068231176
Contract value approved: $8,270,000 (incl. GST)
APU reference number: 253/09–10
Title of contract: 2010 State Election Telephone Enquiry Service
Period of contract: 27 September 2010 to 1 December 2010
Contractor details ComputerShare Source 1
Contractor ABN: 76 085 801 350
Contract value approved: $770,176
APU reference number: 074/09–10
Title of contract: 2010 State Election Tally Room
Period of contract: 22 November 2010 to 28 November 2010
Contractor details: Melbourne Stadiums Ltd (Etihad)
Contractor ABN: ABN 37098476594
Contract value approved: $159,300
APU reference number: 168/09–10
Title of contract: Computerised Counting venue
Period of contract: 29 November 2010 – 14 December 2010 (extended to 18 December)
Contractor details: Melbourne Stadiums Limited/Etihad
Contractor ABN: 92 003 435 345
Contract value approved: $145,000
APU reference number: 156/09–10
Title of contract: Contract for the Provision of Electronic Voting System for the 2010 State Election
Period of contract: 1 January 2010 – 31 December 2010
Contractor details: Hewlett-Packard Australia Pty Ltd
Contractor ABN: 74 004 394 763
Contract value approved: $1,724,800 inc GST plus a $110,000 inc GST contingency for a total cumulative amount of 

$1,834,800 inc GST
APU reference number: 258/09–10
Title of contract: Agreement for the Supply of Touch-screen Kiosks
Period of contract: 3 May 2010 – 1 December 2010
Contractor details: TouchScreen Solutions Pty Ltd
Contractor ABN: 48 105 801 349
Contract value approved: Contract value approved: $390,031 inc GST plus a 20% contingency of $78,006.20 inc GST 

for a total cumulative amount of $468,037.20 inc GST
APU reference number: RFT VEC2009AV
Title of contract: Agreement for the Provision of Audio Visual Services
Period of contract: Four years with option of one further term of four years
Contractor details: Kaleidio Pty Ltd 

241 Park Street, South Melbourne, Victoria 3205 
Contractor ABN: 69 149 152 449
Contract value approved: Project (c) Digital storytelling project $14,135 ex GST plus variation to contract of $5,865

Project (d) Miscellaneous filming requirements $10,939 ex GST (per standard project as required)

Appendix 6
Accredited Purchasing Unit approved contracts, 2009–10
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($ thousand)

Consultant
Purpose of 
consultancy Start date End date

Total approved 
project fee
(excluding GST)

Expenditure 
2009–10
(excluding GST)

Future expenditure
(excluding GST)

NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL

Details of consultancies under $100,000

In 2009–10, the total for the 15 consultancies engaged during 
the year, where the total fees payable to the consultants was 
less than $100,000, was $102,682.23 excluding GST.

Details of consultancy engagements over $100,000

Appendix 6

Appendix 7

Accredited Purchasing Unit approved contracts, 2009–10 (continued)

Consultants engaged, 2009–10

APU reference number: RFT VEC2009AV
Title of contract: Agreement for the Provision of Audio Visual Services
Period of contract: Four years with option of one further term of four years
Contractor details: Unreal Films

10 Tregony Place
Camborne, Porirua, New Zealand 5026

Contractor ABN: 52 392 136 918
Contract value approved: Project (a) Mobile Voting Training Video

Project (b) Voting is for everyone $34,090 ex GST
Project (d) Miscellaneous filming requirements $5,340 ex GST

APU reference number: DG/09/17682
Title of contract: Supply of Cardboard Products
Period of contract: 27 April 2010 – 31 December 2013 with a possible extension until 31 December 2015
Contractor details: Visy Board Pty Ltd
Contractor ABN: 58 005 787 913
Contract value approved: $1,066,776 with a possible extension until 31 December 2015at a further cost of $1,011,305
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Electorate Enrolment 
at close 
of roll – 

2002 State 
Election

Variation 
from 

average 
enrolment  

Enrolment 
at close 
of roll – 

2006 State 
Election

Variation 
from 

average 
enrolment

Enrolment 
at 30 June 

2009

Variation 
from 

average 
enrolment                  

Enrolment 
at 30 June 

2010

Variation 
from 

average 
enrolment

Eastern Metropolitan

Bayswater District 36,316 -0.74% 36,321 -4.70% 36,877 -6.97% 36,603 -8.10%

Box Hill District 37,475 +2.39% 37,970 -0.37% 38,551 -2.75% 38,608 -3.07%

Bulleen District 34,839 -4.85% 34,692 -8.97% 35,225 -11.14% 35,159 -11.73%

Doncaster District 35,426 -3.29% 35,524 -6.79% 36,446 -8.06% 36,337 -8.77%

Eltham District 37,879 +3.22% 38,242 +0.34% 38,995 -1.63% 39,000 -2.08%

Ferntree Gully District 38,626 +5.14% 40,994 +7.56% 43,296 9.22% 43,498 +9.21%

Forest Hill District 37,492 +2.38% 36,669 -3.79% 36,524 -7.86% 36,277 -8.92%

Kilsyth District 37,783 +3.21% 38,358 +0.65% 39,861 0.55% 39,991 +0.41%

Mitcham District 36,672 +0.09% 36,374 -4.56% 36,963 -6.76% 36,614 -8.07%

Scoresby District 37,667 +2.89% 38,226 +0.30% 39,055 -1.48% 38,881 -2.38%

Warrandyte District 39,069 +6.70% 39,590 +3.88% 40,832 3.00% 40,927 +2.76%

Total 409,244 +1.41% 412,960 -1.50% 422,625 -3.08% 421,895 -3.70%

Eastern Victoria

Bass District 35,258 -3.97% 39,847 +4.55% 44,687 12.73% 46,801 +17.50%

Evelyn District 36,974 +0.86% 37,693 -1.10% 39,161 -1.21% 39,379 -1.13%

Gembrook District 34,586 -5.70% 38,722 +1.60% 41,371 4.36% 42,179 +5.90%

Gippsland East District 37,475 +2.09% 39,024 +2.39% 40,301 1.66% 40,548 +1.81%

Gippsland South District 36,510 -0.40% 37,314 -2.09% 38,398 -3.14% 38,553 -3.20%

Hastings District 37,635 +2.43% 39,913 +4.73% 42,703 7.72% 43,328 +8.79%

Monbulk District 36,119 -1.45% 36,262 -4.85% 37,339 -5.81% 37,250 -6.48%

Mornington District 34,532 -5.99% 36,934 -3.09% 38,836 -2.03% 39,191 -1.60%

Morwell District 36,042 -1.65% 36,667 -3.79% 37,772 -4.71% 37,811 -5.07%

Narracan District 37,315 +1.82% 38,846 +1.93% 40,692 2.65% 41,158 +3.34%

Nepean District 36,176 -1.15% 36,451 -4.36% 37,843 -4.54% 38,175 -4.15%

Total 398,622 -1.22% 417,673 -0.37% 439,103 0.70% 444,373 +1.43%

Northern Metropolitan

Broadmeadows District 37,422 +2.53% 36,713 -3.67% 37,931 -4.31% 37,262 -6.45%

Brunswick District 37,972 +3.25% 39,734 +4.26% 40,882 3.13% 40,749 +2.31%

Bundoora District 35,029 -4.56% 35,354 -7.24% 36,322 -8.37% 36,176 -9.17%

Ivanhoe District 37,277 +1.46% 37,162 -2.49% 38,153 -3.75% 38,181 -4.14%

Melbourne District 33,859 -8.38% 38,853 +1.94% 41,227 4.00% 41,497 +4.19%

Mill Park District 35,926 -2.19% 38,365 +0.66% 40,313 1.70% 40,392 +1.41%

Northcote District 37,722 +2.90% 38,584 +1.24% 39,110 -1.34% 39,141 -1.73%

Preston District 38,208 +4.46% 37,858 -0.67% 38,407 -3.11% 38,054 -4.46%

Richmond District 37,052 +0.68% 38,941 +2.18% 40,278 1.61% 40,063 +0.59%

Thomastown District 38,102 +4.45% 36,458 -4.34% 37,038 -6.57% 36,735 -7.77%

Yan Yean District 34,895 -5.13% 41,083 +7.80% 47,903 20.84% 50,895 +27.78%

Total 403,464 -0.02% 419,105 -0.03% 437,564 0.35% 439,145 +0.23%

Appendix 8
District and region enrolments at 30 June 2009
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Electorate Enrolment 
at close 
of roll – 

2002 State 
Election

Variation 
from 

average 
enrolment  

Enrolment 
at close 
of roll – 

2006 State 
Election

Variation 
from 

average 
enrolment

Enrolment 
at 30 June 

2009

Variation 
from 

average 
enrolment                   

Enrolment 
at 30 June 

2010

Variation 
from 

average 
enrolment

Northern Victoria

Benalla District 34,690 -5.44% 35,788 -6.10% 36,406 -8.16% 36,513 -8.33%

Benambra District 34,122 -7.29% 35,224 -7.58% 36,117 -8.89% 36,161 -9.21%

Bendigo East District 35,520 -3.60% 38,000 -0.29% 39,227 -1.04% 39,423 -1.02%

Bendigo West District 38,420 +4.43% 39,557 +3.79% 40,703 2.68% 40,791 +2.42%

Macedon District 39,152 +6.41% 42,700 +12.04% 45,982 16.00% 46,300 +16.25%

Mildura District 36,098 -1.68% 36,320 -4.70% 37,293 -5.92% 36,952 -7.22%

Murray Valley District 35,081 -4.52% 36,739 -3.60% 37,618 -5.10% 37,582 -5.64%

Rodney District 35,177 -4.09% 35,652 -6.45% 36,165 -8.77% 35,975 -9.68%

Seymour District 35,561 -3.25% 38,112 +0.00% 39,856 0.54% 40,064 +0.59%

Shepparton District 35,754 -2.47% 36,206 -5.00% 37,328 -5.83% 37,264 -6.44%

Swan Hill District 34,662 -5.50% 33,731 -11.50% 33,347 -15.88% 32,798 -17.65%

Total 394,237 -2.31% 408,029 -2.67% 420,042 -3.67% 419,823 -4.18%

Southern Metropolitan

Albert Park District 38,726 +5.61% 43,926 +15.26% 45,242 14.13% 45342 +13.84%

Bentleigh District 36,801 +0.25% 37,250 -2.26% 38,294 -3.40% 38232 -4.01%

Brighton District 36,505 -0.42% 36,932 -3.10% 37,685 -4.93% 37687 -5.38%

Burwood District 37,923 +3.41% 38,284 +0.45% 38,639 -2.53% 38479 -3.39%

Caulfield District 36,314 -0.92% 36,491 -4.25% 37,180 -6.21% 37004 -7.09%

Hawthorn District 36,951 +0.65% 38,017 -0.25% 38,291 -3.41% 38248 -3.97%

Kew District 35,456 -3.23% 36,049 -5.41% 36,281 -8.48% 36270 -8.94%

Malvern District 36,655 -0.18% 37,452 -1.73% 37,731 -4.82% 37762 -5.19%

Oakleigh District 34,995 -4.16% 34,478 -9.54% 35,258 -11.06% 35430 -11.04%

Prahran District 36,856 +0.48% 38,332 +0.58% 38,768 -2.20% 38448 -3.47%

Sandringham District 36,083 -1.64% 36,376 -4.55% 37,252 -6.03% 37113 -6.82%

Total 403,265 -0.07% 413,587 -1.35% 420,621 -3.54% 420015 -4.13%

South East Metropolitan

Carrum District 38,869 +5.88% 39,516 +3.68% 41,341 4.29% 41,292 +3.67%

Clayton District 34,674 -5.29% 33,398 -12.37% 34,024 -14.17% 33,853 -15.00%

Cranbourne District 34,009 -7.55% 40,541 +6.37% 45,104 13.78% 46,208 +16.02%

Dandenong District 35,517 -3.06% 34,489 -9.51% 35,807 -9.67% 35,460 -10.97%

Frankston District 36,523 +0.07% 35,465 -6.95% 36,016 -9.14% 35,688 -10.40%

Lyndhurst District 34,760 -5.11% 36,605 -3.95% 39,650 0.02% 40,693 +2.17%

Mordialloc District 37,617 +2.07% 39,249 +2.98% 40,789 2.90% 40,871 +2.62%

Mount Waverley District 36,752 +0.38% 36,604 -3.96% 37,131 -6.33% 36,778 -7.66%

Mulgrave District 34,337 -6.14% 33,982 -10.84% 34,930 -11.88% 34,829 -12.55%

Narre Warren North District 35,036 -4.53% 37,223 -2.33% 39,436 -0.52% 39,527 -0.76%

Narre Warren South District 37,578 +1.59% 45,871 +20.36% 50,132 26.47% 50,806 +27.56%

Total 395,672 -1.95% 412,943 -1.50% 434,360 -0.39% 436,005 -0.48%

Appendix 8
District and region enrolments at 30 June 2009 (continued)
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Electorate Enrolment 
at close 
of roll – 

2002 State 
Election

Variation 
from 

average 
enrolment  

Enrolment 
at close 
of roll – 

2006 State 
Election

Variation 
from 

average 
enrolment

Enrolment 
at 30 June 

2009

Variation 
from 

average 
enrolment                   

Enrolment 
at 30 June 

2010

Variation 
from 

average 
enrolment

Western Metropolitan

Altona District 35,773 -2.95% 41,888 +9.91% 46,719 17.86% 48,764 +22.43%

Derrimut District 34,611 -5.44% 35,906 -5.79% 38,825 -2.06% 39,902 +0.18%

Essendon District 37,369 +1.74% 37,601 -1.34% 38,950 -1.74% 38,800 -2.58%

Footscray District 37,412 +2.20% 37,293 -2.15% 39,646 0.01% 39,215 -1.54%

Keilor District 37,980 +2.94% 46,060 +20.85% 50,801 28.15% 51,912 +30.34%

Kororoit District 35,235 -3.98% 38,186 +0.19% 40,953 3.31% 41,690 +4.67%

Niddrie District 36,896 +0.88% 36,148 -5.15% 36,537 -7.83% 36,461 -8.46%

Pascoe Vale District 37,634 +2.62% 38,591 +1.26% 39,722 0.20% 39,848 +0.05%

Tarneit District 37,135 +1.23% 41,235 +8.19% 44,976 13.46% 46,085 +15.71%

Williamstown District 37,526 +2.65% 37,437 -1.77% 38,283 -3.43% 38,189 -4.12%

Yuroke District 35,943 -2.07% 41,502 +8.89% 46,085 16.26% 47,037 +18.10%

Total 403,514 -0.01% 431,847 +3.01% 461,497 5.83% 467,903 +6.80%

Western Victoria

Ballarat East District 36,480 -0.94% 37,648 -1.22% 39,224 -1.05% 39,405 -1.06%

Ballarat West District 39,714 +8.20% 41,283 +8.32% 42,972 8.40% 42,949 +7.83%

Bellarine District 38,583 +4.93% 40,888 +7.28% 42,641 7.57% 43,212 +8.49%

Geelong District 38,480 +4.96% 39,307 +3.14% 39,524 -0.30% 39,389 -1.10%

Lara District 38,724 +5.46% 40,485 +6.23% 42,268 6.63% 42,791 +7.44%

Lowan District 38,381 +4.67% 38,181 +0.18% 38,425 -3.07% 38,127 -4.27%

Melton District 35,458 -3.23% 38,693 +1.52% 41,333 4.27% 42,199 +5.95%

Polwarth District 39,179 +6.58% 40,403 +6.01% 41,124 3.74% 41,310 +3.72%

Ripon District 36,044 -1.64% 36,473 -4.30% 36,994 -6.68% 37,170 -6.68%

South Barwon District 39,290 +7.14% 43,002 +12.83% 45,707 15.30% 46,639 +17.10%

South-West Coast District 40,115 +9.39% 41,338 +8.46% 42,410 6.99% 42,619 +7.00%

Total 420,448 +4.19% 437,701 +4.41% 452,622 0 455,810 +4.04%

Totals 3,228,466 3,353,845 3,488,434 3,504,969

District Average 36,687 38,112 158,565 39,829

Region Average 403,558 419,231 436,054 438,121

Appendix 8
District and region enrolments at 30 June 2009 (continued)
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–  BreastScreen Victoria

–  The Victorian Cervical Cytology Registry, Papscreen Victoria

–  Prostate Cancer Program

–  State Revenue Office 

–  Victorian Adoption Network for Information and Self Help 
(VANISH); 

–  Medical Practitioners Board

–  Victoria Police: Ethical Standards Department ; Records 
Services Division; Licensing Services Branch; State 
Intelligence Division; Major Fraud Investigation Service. 

I certify that the Victorian Electoral Commission has 
risk management processes in place consistent with the 
Australian/New Zealand Risk Management Standard (or 
equivalent designated standard) and an internal control 
system is in place that enables the executive to understand, 
manage and satisfactorily control risk exposures. 

The Audit Committee verifies this assurance and that the 
risk profile of the Victorian Electoral Commission has been 
critically reviewed within the last 12 months.

Appendix 10

Appendix 9

Attestation of compliance with the Australian/New Zealand 
risk management standard

Organisations receiving enrolment information 
under Section 34, Electoral Act 2002

–  These divisions of Victoria Police accessed enrolment 
information 5,316 times during 2009–10 via a secure 
online look-up facility established under a protocol in 
2005–06

–  Victoria Police – Bushfire Unaccounted Persons 
Coordination Centre

–  Department of Justice, Strategic Communications Branch. 
(In this instance, the VEC enabled the mailout of fire ready 
information to electors in 52 designated high-risk areas 
without transferring any enrolment information to 
the applicant.) 

Steven Tully

Electoral Commissioner
Victorian Electoral 
Commission

Melbourne
18 August 2010
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Attendance election
In an attendance election most voting is conducted at voting 
centres on election day, although voters may vote at early 
voting centres or by pre-poll postal votes.

Accredited Purchasing Unit 
Accredited Purchasing Units approve procurement processes 
up to each department’s level of accreditation under delegated 
authority from the Victorian Government Purchasing Board.

Ballot
A method of secret voting.

By-election
A by-election is an election in a single electorate to fill a 
casual vacancy caused by the departure of a sitting Member 
of Parliament or local government councillor before the term 
expires.

Candidate
A candidate is an eligible elector who nominates for election.

Coding
Coding is the process of classifying information. In 
communications and computer systems, this involves 
implementing rules that are used to map the elements of one 
set onto the elements of another set, usually on a one-to-one 
basis.

Community of interest
The VEC defines a community of interest as a group of people 
who share a range of common concerns or aspirations. 
A community of interest may occur where people are linked 
with each other geographically (e.g. a town or valley) or 
economically, such as where people work in similar industries 
(e.g. tourism) or where people work in mutually-dependant 
industries (e.g. fruit growers, transporters and canners). 
A community of interest may also appear where people share 
a number of special needs because of similar circumstances 
(such as new immigrants who may have little English, require 
assistance with housing or need help finding employment). 

Compulsory enrolment
All Australian citizens 18 years and over are required 
by law to enrol.

Compulsory voting
All enrolled electors must vote at State elections. All enrolled 
voters must vote at local government elections (except for 
those who are 70 or over, or non-residents). 

Contested election
A contested election is an election where more candidates 
than the number of vacancies for the election have nominated 
by the close of nominations.

Continuous roll update (CRU)
The CRU process consists of a range of strategies to ensure 
that the electoral roll is continuously kept up-to-date by using 
internal and external data to direct roll review activities to 
targeted people and residences. 

Councillor
An elected representative on a local government council.

Countback
Method of filling extraordinary vacancies in multi-member 
wards and unsubdivided municipalities in electorates where 
general election results were obtained using the proportional 
representation method. The votes of the vacating councillor 
are transferred to the previously unelected candidates to fill 
the vacancy.

District
One of the 88 Legislative Assembly electorates in Victoria. 
Each district elects one member and comprises approximately 
39,000 electors.

Election
The choosing of representatives by the voters.

Election date
The date electors cast their votes.

Election Manager
A person appointed by the Electoral Commissioner to conduct 
an election for an electoral district or region.

Elector
A person whose name appears on the register of electors and 
who is entitled to vote in elections.

Electoral Commissioner
The statutory officer appointed by the Governor-in-Council 
with responsibility for the proper conduct of parliamentary, 
local government and statutory elections.

Electoral enrolment register
The VEC’s database of all Victorian electors.

Electoral Matters Committee (EMC)
The EMC comprises seven Members of Parliament drawn 
from both Houses and is a Joint Investigatory Committee 
of the Parliament of Victoria. Its powers and responsibilities 
are determined by the Parliamentary Committees Act 2003.
The EMC inquires into, considers and reports to the 
Parliament on any proposal, matter or thing concerned with 
the conduct of parliamentary elections and referendums in 
Victoria, the conduct of elections of councillors under the 
Local Government Act 1989 and the administration of, or 
practices associated with, the Electoral Act 2002 and any 
other law relating to electoral matters.

Electoral roll
A list of names of all the people who are entitled to vote 
in an election under relevant legislation. 

Enrolment
The placement of a person’s name and address on the 
electoral enrolment register. A person cannot vote at an 
election unless they are enrolled. 

Enrolment information
The information about electors that is held by the VEC. 

Entitlement date
To be eligible to vote at a council election, people must be on 
the State or local council voters roll 57 days before election 
day. This is called the “entitlement date”.

Glossary
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Environmental Management Strategy (EnvMS)
The VEC’s EnvMS is a program that is used to identify, 
manage and reduce the organisation’s impact on the 
environment and guides the generation of reports on 
environmental performance progress. It provides a systematic 
and methodical approach to planning, implementing and 
reviewing the VEC’s response to those impacts.

Extensible Markup Language (XML) 
XML is a data format for structured document exchange. 

General postal voter (GPV)
A voter who always has difficulty getting to a voting centre on 
election day can register as a GPV. GPVs include people who 
are infirm, prisoners, those in remote communities and people 
who are 70 or over. After the close of nominations for an 
election, GPVs are automatically sent postal ballot papers and 
certificate envelopes.

Geocoding
Geocoding is the process of assigning geographic identifiers 
(e.g. codes or geographic coordinates expressed as latitude-
longitude) to map features and other data records, such as 
street addresses.

How-to-vote cards
Cards handed out to voters by party supporters at voting 
centres showing how a party or candidate would like voters 
to fill in their ballot papers. In Victoria, how-to-vote cards 
handed out within 400 metres of a voting centre on election 
day must be registered with the VEC.

Informal voting
A ballot paper that is either left blank or is incorrectly 
marked. These ballot papers are excluded from the count and, 
therefore, do not contribute to the election of a candidate.

Legislative Assembly (Lower House)
One of the two Houses in the Victorian State Parliament. There 
are 88 Members of the Legislative Assembly (MLAs), one from 
each electoral district. The party or coalition of parties that wins 
majority support in this House forms the Government.

Legislative Council (Upper House)
One of the two Houses in the Victorian State Parliament. 
There are 40 Members of the Legislative Council (MLCs), 
five from each region. The Legislative Council is often referred 
to as the “House of review”.

Lost Time Injury (LTI) 
An LTI is an occupational injury or illness that results in days 
away from work on any rostered shift subsequent to that on 
which the injury occurred. A fatality is also recorded as an LTI.

Marginal costs 
Marginal costs include direct labour and associated on-costs, 
materials, equipment, mail processing, postage, advertising, 
printing, rent, utilities, insurance, IT equipment and software 
licences purchased especially for the specific activity. 

Postal election
In an all-postal election, voting papers are posted to voters 
by the Returning Officer and a vote is made by completing 
a ballot paper and returning it to the Returning Officer in the 
reply-paid envelope provided. 

Preferential voting
A vote for all candidates in order of preference. If no candidate 
has an absolute majority or first preference votes, preferences 
are distributed until one candidate has an absolute majority. 

Proportional representation
A system of voting designed to elect representatives 
in proportion to the amount of support each has in the 
electorate. 

Redivision
The redrawing of electoral boundaries to ensure that there are, 
as near as possible, equal numbers of voters in each electorate 
within Victoria.

Region
One of the eight Legislative Council electorates. Each region 
comprises approximately 430,000 electors and elects five 
Members.

Registered political party (RPP)
A political party that is registered under the Electoral Act 2002.
A registered party must have at least 500 members who are 
Victorian electors and not members of another registered 
political party. 

Senior Election Official
A trained electoral official who may be appointed to act as an 
Election Manager for a parliamentary election. Senior Election 
Officials may be also be appointed to act as Returning Officers 
or Deputy Returning Officers for a local government election.

Victorian Electoral Commission (VEC)
The VEC is the independent statutory body that conducts 
State elections and certain statutory elections. The VEC 
may also conduct local council elections, commercial and 
community elections. The VEC also conducts boundary 
reviews, maintains the Victorian electoral enrolment register, 
conducts electoral research and provides education services. 

Voter
A person whose name appears on the register of electors and 
who is entitled to vote in elections.

Voter participation
The percentage of enrolled electors who voted.

Voting centre
A place at which electors can vote in an election. The three 
types of voting centres that operate in State elections are 
early voting centres, mobile voting centres and election day 
voting centres.
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Disclosure index

The annual report of the VEC is prepared in accordance with all relevant legislation. 
This index has been prepared to identify the VEC’s compliance with statutory disclosure requirements.

Charter and purpose Page

FRD 22B Manner of establishment and the relevant ministers 1

FRD 22B Objectives, functions, powers and duties 1

FRD 22B Nature and range of services provided 1

Management and structure

FRD 22B Organisational structure 42

Financial and other information

FRD 8A Budget portfolio outcomes 6

FRD 10 Disclosure index 109

FRD 12A Disclosure of major contracts 101

FRD 15B Executive officer disclosures 46

FRD 22B Operational and budgetary objectives and performance against objectives Inside front cover

FRD 22B Employment and conduct principles 39

FRD 22B Occupational health and safety policy 38

FRD 22B Summary of the financial results for the year 48

FRD 22B Significant changes in financial position during the year 60

FRD 22B Major changes or factors affecting performance 64

FRD 22B Subsequent events 90

FRD 22B Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982 47

FRD 22B Application and operation of the Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001 46

FRD 22B Details of consultancies over $100,000 102

FRD 22B Details of consultancies under $100,000 102

FRD 22B Statement of availability of other information 47

FRD 24C Reporting of office-based environmental impacts 48

FRD 25 Victorian Industry Participation Policy disclosures NA

FRD 29 Work force data disclosures 33

SD 4.5.5 Risk management compliance attestation 106

SD 4.2(g) General information requirements 50

SD 4.2(j) Sign-off requirements Inside front cover

Financial statements required under Part 7 of the FMA

SD4.2(a) Statement of changes in equity 56

SD4.2(b) Operating statement 54

SD4.2(b) Balance sheet 55

SD4.2(b) Cash flow statement 57



110 Victorian Electoral Commission

Other requirements under Standing Directions 4.2 Page

SD4.2(c) Compliance with Australian accounting standards and other authoritative pronouncements 58

SD4.2(c) Compliance with ministerial directions 50

SD4.2(d) Rounding of amounts 64

SD4.2(f) Compliance with model financial report 64

SD4.2(j) Accountable officer’s declaration 93

Other disclosures as required by FRDs in notes to the financial statements

FRD 9A Departmental disclosure of administered assets and liabilities 67

FRD 11 Disclosure of ex-gratia payments 89

FRD 13 Disclosure of parliamentary appropriations 89

FRD 21A Responsible person and executive officer disclosures 90

FRD 102 Inventories 70

FRD 103D Non-current physical assets 72

FRD 104 Foreign currency 83

FRD 106 Impairment of assets 62

FRD 109 Intangible assets 62

FRD 107 Investment properties NA

FRD 110 Cash flow statements 57

FRD 112A Defined benefit superannuation obligations 75

FRD 113 Investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates NA

FRD 114A Financial Instruments – General government entities and public non-financial corporations 78

FRD 119 Contributions by owners NA

Legislation

Freedom of Information Act 1982 (s.64)
Report to Parliament by agencies and Ministers 47

Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001 (s.104)
Report to Parliament by agencies and Ministers 46

Financial Management Act 1994 (s.46)
Report to Parliament by agencies and Ministers 54

Electoral Act 2002 (s.35)
Discretionary provision of enrolment information under s.34 48

Electoral Act 2002 (s.8(2)(b))
Report to Parliament on conduct of elections 10
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Index

Antarctica, voting 27

Aboriginal engagement 18

Accessible voting centres 27

Accountability and transparency 45

Accredited Purchasing Unit approved contracts 101

Additional information 47

Appendices 96

Armed services personnel 27

Audit Committee 45

Audited financial statements 53

Auditor-General’s report 94

Before election day, voting 27

Braille ballot papers 27

Cald communities 19

Code of conduct 39

Community education and communication 18

Community elections 11

Compliance Framework 45

Compliance with risk management standard 9

Compulsory voting, enforcement 99

Compulsory voting enforcement 25

Consultancies 102

Consultation groups, committees and teams 44

Contact details Back cover

Continuous roll update 24

Contracts and consultancies 46

Core business 8

Corporate planning and reporting 46

Council by-elections and countbacks 97

Counselling services 39

Declaration, Electoral Commissioner and accountable officer 93

Disclosure index 109

Diversity, employment 35

Election officials, online training 37

Election Roadshow 25

Elections 9

Electoral Commisisoner, Our year 5

Electoral Commissioner, profile 44

Electoral Council of Australia 13

Electoral divisions, State government 12

Electoral education network 21

Electoral engagement 18

Electoral Matters Committee 14

Electronic roll mark-off 29

Electronic voting facilities, expansion 28

Electronically assisted voting 27

Employment diversity 35

Page Page

Employment exemptions 34

Enforcement of compulsory voting 28

Enrolment information, organisations receiving 106

Enrolment information, privacy 47

Enrolment information, provision 47

Enrolment, register of electors 23

Enrolment, youth 23

Enrolments, District and Region 103

Fair and equitable representation 12

Fast facts, 2009–10 Inside front cover

Financial management compliance framework 46

Financial summary Inside front cover

Financial year in review 48

Flexible work arrangements 39

Follow up of multiple voting 29

Freedom of information 47

Glossary 19

Governance 41

Governing legislation 41

Grievances 39

Hazards, incidents and injuries 38

Highlights 6

History and functions, VEC 1

Human resource management 33

Index 25

Informal voting 30

Information and records management 47

Information, additional 47

Information privacy 47

Interaction with electoral organisations 13

Interstate electoral agencies 13

Interstate or overseas, voting 27

Knowledge capital 36

Legislation, governing 41

Local government activity 11

Local government by-elections and countbacks 11

Management Group 42

Mapping services 31

Multi-language instructions 27

Municipal Electoral Tribunal 46

New and proposed legislation 16

Occupational health and safety 38

Occupational health and safety audit 38

Ombudsman’s report 15

Online employment registration 35

Online training for election officials 37

Organisational structure 42



112 Victorian Electoral Commission

Feedback on this report is welcome

Please mark to the attention of:

Corporate Planning and Reporting Officer
Victorian Electoral Commission
Level 8, 505 Little Collins Street
Melbourne Vic 3000
Phone: 03 9299 0520
Email: info@vec.vic.gov.au

Page Page

Our year, Electoral Commissioner’s message 5

Outreach, enrolment and voting sessions 19

Parliament Open Day 19

Passport to Democracy 18

Pecuniary interest declaration 46

People 32

People experiencing homelessness 19

People with disabilities 19

Performance management 36

Position papers 21

Privacy of enrolment information 47

Recruitment 33

Redesigned EasyVote Guide 17

Register of electors 23

Register of political parties 15

Registered political parties 100

Regulations, governing 41

Report of the Electoral Boundaries Commission 99

Representation reviews, local government 12

Research 16

Research and legislation 16

Risk, identifying and managing 47

Roll products and services 31

Services for voters 27

Staff services and employment conditions 39

Staffing, State election 34

State and Territory electoral commissions 14

State by-elections 10

State elections 9

State election initiatives

Verification of data entry 9

Outreach, enrolment and voting sessions 19

Website redesign 21

Election Roadshow 25

Electronic voting facilities, expansion 28

Electronic roll mark-off 29

Online employment registration 35

Online training for election officials 37

Statistics 2005–06 to 2009–10 Inside back cover

Statutory and fee-for-service elections, 98
by-elections and polls

Stewardship of resources 47

Structure, organisational 42

Sustainability 47

Training 36

Transmittal letter Inside front cover

Turnout 26

Turnout, youth 27

Verification of data entry 9

Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal 46

Vision and values, VEC 1

Voter services 27

Voters 22

Voting centre maps 27

Website 21

Website redesign 21

Whistleblowers 46

Who decides? Interactive 18

Women’s affairs 39

Young people 18

Youth enrolment 23



4 Victorian Electoral Commission

Fast facts 2008–09 2009–10 Change
Enrolled electors at 30 June 3,488,434 3,504,969 0.47%

Eligible electors enrolled 92.67% 90.85% 1.96%

Staff (FTE) at 30 June 72.1 76.5 6.10%

Training hours per FTE 5.21 6.98 33.97%

Lost time days 0 27

State elections 0 0 –
State by-elections 0 1

Council elections 79 0

Council by-elections and countbacks 2 12

Statutory and fee-for-service elections 16 10

Total expenditure $31.31m $19.25m 38.52%

Revenue paid to Consolidated Fund $15.4m $2.8m 81.81%

Financial summary 2008–09  
($’000)

2009–10 
($’000)

Change 

Operating revenue (appropriation) 29,984 19,250 35.80%

Operating expenses 31,310 19,897 36.45%

Total assets 8,293 7,752 6.52%

Total liabilities 2,062 1,842 10.67%

Surplus (1,326) (647) 51.21%

Net equity 6,231 5,912 5.12%

Letter of transmittal 
The Hon. Rob Hulls, MP 
Attorney-General 
Level 3, 1 Treasury Place 
East Melbourne Vic 3002

September 2010

Dear Attorney

I am pleased to submit the annual report of the Victorian Electoral Commission for 2009–10 for presentation to Parliament. 
The report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Financial Management Act 1994. 

Also included is the annual report of the Electoral Boundaries Commission for 2009–10. 

Yours sincerely

Steve Tully  
Electoral Commissioner
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